
Date Published: 14 September 2020     

Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board

Tuesday 22 September 2020 at 10.00 am

Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 4) Andrea Clarke

4  Public Questions 

To answer any written questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the Board.

The closing date/time for receipt of written questions is 10.00am on 15 
September 2020. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for 
the attention of Andrea Clarke (email: 
andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chair

5  Members' Questions 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the Board. The closing date/time for the receipt of 
questions is 10.00am on 15 September 2020. Please send questions to the 
Chief Executive marked for the attention of Andrea Clarke (email: 
andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chair

6  Covid-19 Update 

The Board to receive a verbal update.

Sarah Scott

GLOUCESTERSHIRE JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY PRIORITY AREAS

7  Priority: Physical activity (Pages 5 - 10) Dr Andy 
Seymour

8  Priority: ACEs and resilience (Pages 11 - 20) ACC Rhiannon 

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

Kirk

9  Priority: Healthy lifestyles (Pages 21 - 28) Sarah Scott

10  Priority: Mental Wellbeing (Pages 29 - 32) Angela Potter

11  Priority: Social isolation (Pages 33 - 70) Chris Brierley, 
Mary Hutton

12  Priority: Early years / Best start (Pages 71 - 74) Andy Dempsey

13  Priority: Housing (Pages 75 - 88) Anne Brinkhoff

OTHER AGENDA ITEMS

14  Covid-19 Reset and anchor institutions - Working Group Update 

The Board to receive a verbal update.

Jennifer Taylor

15  Child Friendly Gloucestershire Update (Pages 89 - 102) Andy Dempsey, 
Dame Janet 
Trotter

Membership – Mark Astle (Representing Chief Fire Officer), DPCC Chris Brierley (Representing 
Police and Crime Commissioner), Anne Brinkhoff (Gloucester City Council), Keith Gerrard (Stroud 
District Council), Christine Gore (Cotswold District Council), Mary Hutton (Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group), ACC Rhiannon Kirk (Representing the Chief Constable), Darren Knight 
(Cheltenham Borough Council), Deborah Lee (Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust), 
David Owen (GFirstLEP), Rachel Pearce (NHS England), Dr Teresa Pietroni (Primary Care), 
Angela Potter (Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust), Nikki Richardson 
(Healthwatch Gloucestershire), Sarah Scott (Director of Public Health), Dr Andy Seymour 
(Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), Chris Spencer (Director of Children's Services), 
Rob Weaver (Tewkesbury Borough Council), Margaret Willcox OBE (Director of Adult Services) 
and Peter Williams (Forest of Dean District Council) Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Tim Harman, 
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin (Chair) and Cllr Kathy Williams

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506 e-mail: 



    

rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting. 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point. Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD
MINUTES of a meeting of the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board held on Tuesday 21 July 
2020.

PRESENT:
Wayne Bowcock
Cllr Richard Boyles
Christine Gore
Cllr Tim Harman
Mary Hutton
ACC Rhiannon Kirk
Darren Knight
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin 
(Chair)
David Owen

Dr Teresa Pietroni
Angela Potter
Nikki Richardson
Sarah Scott
Dr Andy Seymour (Vice-Chair)
Chris Spencer
Rob Weaver
Margaret Willcox OBE
Peter Williams

Substitutes: Simon Lanceley (In place of Deborah Lee)
Jon McGinty (In place of Anne Brinkhoff)
PCC Martin Surl (In place of Chris Brierley)

Officers in attendance: Andy Dempsey - Director of Strategy and Partnerships
Dame Janet Trotter
Siobhan Farmer - Deputy Director of Public Health
Jennifer Taylor – Lead Commissioner Public Health

Apologies: Cllr Kathy Williams

1. ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON 
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin was elected Chairperson for the council year 2020/2021.

2. ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRPERSON 
Dr Andy Seymour was elected Vice Chairperson for the council year 2020/2021.

3. ONE MINUTE’S SILENCE IN MEMORY OF THOSE LOST DURING THE 
PANDEMIC 
The Chairperson lead the Board in a minute’s silence in memory of lives lost during the 
Covid-19 pandemic.

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations of interest were received.

5. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
The minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 21 January were agreed as a correct record.

6. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
No public questions were received by the published deadline.

7. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 
No public questions were received.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

8. COVID-19 RESET AND HEALTH INEQUALITIES 
8.1 The Board was aware that the consequences of COVID-19 were not the same for 

everyone. There was growing evidence of how it had disproportionately impacted different 
populations, exposing the deep inequalities and stark differences in life expectancy that 
exist between different population groups and areas of the country. There were growing 
concerns that the UK’s minority ethnic groups were being disproportionately affected, and 
there was evidence that minority groups were overrepresented in hospitalisations and 
deaths from the virus. The Board recognised the importance of understanding the 
underlying factors/issues and identifying its role in driving forward changes to redress this 
imbalance. 

8.2 The Director of Public Health (DPH) informed the Board that the 2020 DPH Annual Report 
would focus on BAME (Black and Minority Ethnic community) and inequality. The council’s 
Black Worker’s Network would be co-authoring the report.

8.3 The Board agreed to the proposal of the establishment of a small working group drawn 
from interested partner organisations to develop the anchor institution approach. 
Cheltenham Borough Council, Gloucester City, Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 
Foundation Trust, Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS), and GFirst LEP 
indicated that they would be happy to join the working group. 

8.4 In response to a question it was clarified that GPs were seeing patients face to face, not at 
the number before the pandemic, but if required a face to face consultation was available. It 
was also explained that where a translator was needed face to face was undertaken. It was 
about the GP and patient working together to decide which option was best for their 
individual case.

8.5 The Board was informed that at the meeting of Gloucester City Council on 9 July 2020 the 
council had agreed to set up a Race Relations Commission; members of this Board would 
be asked to join the Commission.

8.6 The Board agreed that it would be important to understand the power and influence that 
partner organisations in the county had over procurement and commissioning decisions. 
Members also agreed that it would be important to bear in mind that health inequalities 
affected other groups as well as the BAME community.

8.7 It was agreed that it would be helpful to understand whether the organisations represented 
on the Board had a social value policy in place. It would be helpful to know whether these 
were aligned.
ACTION: Andrea Clarke

8.8 The Board therefore agreed that it was important to maintain pace on this work, and 
requested an update on activity to be received at the meeting on 22 September 2020.
ACTION: Jennifer Taylor/ZoeClifford

9. LOCAL OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN (LOMP) 
9.1 The Deputy Director of Public Health gave a detailed presentation of the Plan. 

9.2 The Gloucestershire COVID-19 Outbreak Engagement Board was aware that it needed to 
ensure that there was representation from the BAME community on that Board. 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

9.3 The Board agreed that it could support this plan, and Board members would look to ensure 
that their organisation was engaged in this activity. It was also agreed that this work 
needed to move at pace in order to keep people safe.

10. AGREEMENT OF THE GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
STRATEGY 

10.1 The Director of Public Health (DPH) reminded the Board of the background to the 
development of this strategy, and the time already invested in its development. It was 
recognised that this work had been pre Covid-19 and that the work around the priority 
areas would need to be refreshed to reflect the ‘new normal’ and learning from the 
pandemic. 

10.2 It was noted that the paper clearly highlighted the variations in populations across 
Gloucestershire; it would be important to understand how best to deploy resources in each 
of these areas. There were also concerns as to the availability of resources given the 
ongoing demands arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.

10.3 It was agreed that it would be important once the strategy was agreed to ensure that the 
work to support the strategy moved at pace.

10.4 The Board agreed the wording of the Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
It was also agreed that a report on each of the priorities be received at the meeting of the 
Board on 22 September 2020.
ACTION: Priority Leads

11. CHILD FRIENDLY GLOUCESTERSHIRE - UPDATE 
11.1 The Director of Partnerships and Strategy gave a detailed presentation of the report setting 

out the background and context to this programme of work. As joint sponsor of this work, 
alongside the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, it was necessary that the 
Board approved each stage of this work. 

11.2 Board members were interested to note the outcomes of the survey undertaken with young 
people and agreed that some of the information was painful to read. Board members gave 
their wholehearted support to this work.

11.3 The Board agreed to support the continuation of work over the summer period in order to 
develop areas of work where intervention and support would have a lasting impact; and, to 
continue to engage with key partners and stakeholders in order to build support and gain 
their insights.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 11.45 am

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and Wellbeing board report – Physical Activity – Sept 2020

 Brief description of the scope of your priority – where is the Board adding or intending to 
add value in this area:

It is well known that physical activity has the potential to make an enormously positive 
impact on the health and wellbeing of our population. Indeed, the former UK CMO Professor 
Dame Sally Davies once tweeted “If physical activity were a drug, we would refer to it as a 
miracle cure.” 

We are very fortunate in Gloucestershire to have a long history of investment in and delivery 
of physical activity through our District councils and charities. We have delivered physical 
activity through a range of mechanisms with a wide range of partners across all localities. 
These individual activities are important and have made a positive impact for certain cohorts 
of our population; however until recently we had not made a sustained, coordinated, 
countywide effort to shift population levels of inactivity. Beginning in 2015 we established a 
partnership across the county looking to change that and develop a social movement in 
which being physically active becomes the social norm. We called this partnership our ‘we 
can move’ programme. 

We can move (formerly Gloucestershire Moves) aims to support and encouraging people to 
increase their activity levels through a whole system approach including sport, informal 
physical activity, transport and design. Aiming to take a new approach to reducing inactivity 
levels, the programme takes action to remove the barriers to becoming physically active at 
an individual level (day to day behaviours), community level (passing ownership to 
communities) and system level (lobbying and direct action against overarching system 
barriers). The overarching aim of the programme is that it will become a social movement, 
owned by the people and supported by the established founding partnership through 
funding and resource. It has the potential to have significant positive health benefits for 
people living in the county especially those that are least active. The benefits include 
improved physical and mental health, stronger more cohesive communities alongside 
numerous economic benefits (some evidence links here - Link to Insight Hub article by PHE
https://wecanmove.ning.com/articles/health-matters-physical-activity-prevention-and-
management-of-lon?context=tag-benefit+of+physical+activity, Sport England 2016-21 
strategy https://wecanmove.ning.com/articles/sport-england-towards-an-active-nation-
strategy-2016-2021).

To achieve this, system leadership and whole system change is needed. The Health and 
Wellbeing Board has the opportunity to be the senior driving force behind this change by 
leading work across the system and linking to all priority areas e.g. health planning, obesity, 
social isolation and adverse childhood experiences. 

The scope of this work is broader than just sport, leisure and physical activity and includes 
active travel, active design and asset based community development. We can move is 
Gloucestershire’s whole system social movement for physical activity.

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7

https://wecanmove.ning.com/articles/health-matters-physical-activity-prevention-and-management-of-lon?context=tag-benefit+of+physical+activity
https://wecanmove.ning.com/articles/health-matters-physical-activity-prevention-and-management-of-lon?context=tag-benefit+of+physical+activity
https://wecanmove.ning.com/articles/sport-england-towards-an-active-nation-strategy-2016-2021
https://wecanmove.ning.com/articles/sport-england-towards-an-active-nation-strategy-2016-2021


 Do you have a group that over sees the delivery of your priority?  If not what are your 
plans for developing a group?

Governance arrangements have already been put in place whilst establishing we can move, 
which is supported and organised by Active Gloucestershire.  A programme group meeting 
attended by both the CCG and Public Health already takes place bi-monthly, but the project 
would benefit from a more direct reporting link to senior stakeholders such as the Health 
and Wellbeing Board. In time, the project aims to secure more representation from 
communities; including on the Active Gloucestershire Board and strengthen the links into 
the Enabling Active Communities board.

 How is the work in your priority area funded?  Is this funding sustainable?  If not what are 
your plans to address this?

We can move has been co-funded by Sport England, the CCG, GCC, District Councils and 
other partners as part of a three year test and learn pilot. Beginning in 2018/19 the current 
funding ends in March 2021, a business case for continuation funding from is in the process 
of being written. Sport England has committed to continue their funding in their latest draft 
strategy, which will run until 2031.

The requirement of the business case is to fund the programme for the next 5 years (taking 
funding to 2025/26 at a rate of £150,000 per year. This funding settlement would enable the 
programme to plan for the longer term and align goals with the ambitious longer term 
targets contained within many of the national and local strategies.

As the goal is to achieve system change, funding needs to be for the longer term, the 
greatest benefits are typically achieved by sustained work and relationship building over a 
number of years. In the short term numerical outcomes are delivered by targeted 
interventions which use behaviour change methodology in order to increase their impact. 
Prior to Covid-19 Gloucestershire’s inactivity levels in the general population were slowly 
dropping however the greatest need was, and continues to be, from within the most 
disadvantaged communities in the county.

 Do you have a strategy or statement of strategic intent?  Or are you planning to develop 
one?  If so, what is the time frame?

The we can move strategy will be available for consultation throughout September with the 
ambition of halving inactivity levels by 2030, this aligns to the government obesity aims 
around childhood obesity levels. The strategy is ambitious, but achievable, focussing on the 
long term system wide benefits of this work. The strategy will be flexible enough to respond 
to unexpected changes in the system which may provide opportunities or disruption.

 Do you have an action plan?  If not what is the timescale for development?

The work programme for we can move is already in place, along with the resulting 
management and project management procedures. The current plan runs until the end of 
March 2021 however an annual business plan with a further two year outlook will be 
developed once the new we can move strategy has been agreed (Autumn 2020). 

Page 6



The current work programme focusses on the following priority areas:

 Place based (Gloucester)
 Children & young people
 Health professionals
 Disabled people
 Older adults
 BAME people

 Have you identified metrics for your priority?  Do they also capture how your work is 
tackling inequalities in health?

The attached (Appendix C) overview details the activity of our target groups, and their 
inactivity levels. Whilst physical inactivity levels have seen a slow reduction over the last few 
years we believe that the impact from Covid-19 has started to reverse this trend. 

In order to better understand the impact of the work of we can move the University of 
Bristol and Institute of Health Research Applied Collaboration (West) have been appointed 
as learning and evaluation partners. They have developed an approach to measure system 
change resulting from the work, Ripple Effect Mapping (example – Appendix A), and its 
effect on the wider system. This has included system mapping (example – Appendix B) which 
has helped determine where to make intervention and to establish what has changed as a 
result.

However system change can be challenging to measure precisely including cause and effect 
resulting from action and the positive impact on the wider system e.g. obesity. As a result 
determining direct return on investment requires a degree of assumption and is best 
supported with wider value metrics. Population level data is captured as part of the national 
Active Lives survey and behaviour change measurement at an individual level is undertaken 
for each project.

 Any other issues or good practice you wish to share with the Board.

We can move is a step change in approach to addressing levels of inactivity in the county 
and has required a non-traditional approach to commissioning. Programmes and 
interventions have been co-created and organisations have worked in partnership to test 
and learn together. We can move offers the potential to impact widely on Gloucestershire’s 
health and wellbeing system with outputs beyond just physical activity, such as obesity and 
social isolation and loneliness. 

The collaborative way in which the programme has been commissioned, developed and 
delivered encapsulates the spirit of true partnership working and shared endeavour towards 
tackling a wicked problem. There is a great deal of learning from the process, the underlying 
approach and principles of this could be very beneficial to share across the ICS and be 
helpful in creating action against some of the other complex issues we face as a system.

Page 7



The work will continue to evolve and change dependent on learning, priorities and external 
factors. We can move is part of a learning collaboration across England which includes Sport 
England funded Local Delivery Pilots. Active Gloucestershire is working with several 
international organisations to learn from their approach and successes e.g. a member of 
Active Gloucestershire staff will be visiting Australia as part of a Winston Churchill 
Fellowship.

We also recognise that Covid is likely to impact on levels of physical inactivity, with those in 
our society at most disadvantage likely to suffer the most. Through the WCM programme we 
will review the impact Covid has had on our society particularly focussing on health 
inequalities. We will target specific work to reduce the negative impact it is likely to have.

Page 8



Appendix A: Ripple Effect Map (excerpt)

Appendix B: Gloucestershire Physical Activity systems Map

Page 9



Appendix C: Inactivity stats

Page 10



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board
22nd September 2020

Report Title JHWS Update on Priority 2: Adverse childhood 
experiences (ACEs) and resilience

Item for 
decision or 
information?

For Information

Sponsor Assistant Chief Constable Rhiannon Kirk

Author Helen Flitton, Public Health Outcome Manager

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  

Action to prevent and mitigate the consequences of ACEs is essential to 
improve population health.

Back in November 2017 the impact on individual lives, on communities and 
on health and social care service demand were all drivers for wanting to 
develop a coherent county-wide approach to ACEs.  The Action on Aces 
Strategy was signed off by the Board in November 2018 and work is 
ongoing to embed an ACEs informed approach within organisations and 
communities across the county.  

During and post COVID-19 pandemic it is more important than ever that we 
continue to do all we can to mitigate the causes and effects of adverse 
childhood experiences.  Our report outlines how our work is organised and 
the progress we have made over the past few months.

One of the key issues we would like the Board to consider is how we 
maintain resource for this work beyond the end of the current funding 
streams.

Recommendations to Board: 
Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to:

 Champion ACEs
 Support and embed trauma informed practice within their own 

organisation
 Provide resource to continue and extend the scope of our work
 Use the learning from the ACEs work to inform the individual 

organisations recovery plans and thus further embed the vision, 
values and behaviours.

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



Financial/Resource Implications: 
The original funding for the full time ACEs co-ordinator post ends in May 
2021 and an apprentice role which also focuses on ACEs work ends in 
March 2021.  GCC have made the following commitment regarding funding:

 £24,000 towards funding another year of the ACEs co-ordinator 
post.  This meets 50% of the costs of the post.

 £20,000 towards a part time communications officer post

In order for the co-ordinator role to continue beyond May 2021 funding 
needs to be found for the other 50% of the post.  Board members are asked 
to commit to funding the remaining £24,000.

To extend the apprentice role we would need to find an additional £11,000.

Additional funding streams such as the National Lottery are being explored 
but these may take longer to secure.  The ambition if we were successful 
would be to develop ACEs Practitioner roles that would work directly in the 
community.  

Page 12



1.0Background and Scope

1.1Since the Health and Wellbeing Board’s special meeting on the impact of Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs) in November 2017 and the formation of the ACEs 
Panel in January 2018 work has been ongoing to embed an ACEs informed 
approach within organisations and communities across the county.

1.2ACEs are specified traumatic events occurring before the age of 18 years. High or 
frequent exposure to ACEs, without the support of a trusted adult can lead to toxic 
stress. There is a large body of evidence that shows the adversity we experience 
as children can affect us into adulthood.  For example, a study in the BMJ 
published in June this year showed that  growing up with child maltreatment, 
domestic violence & other ACEs costs England & Wales £42.8 billion a year in 
resulting conditions like substance misuse, cancer, mental illness, heart disease 
and other illnesses over the life-course. 
https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/10/6/e036374    

1.3Developing resilience through access to a trusted adult in childhood, supportive 
friends, positive attachments and being engaged in community activities has been 
shown to improve outcomes even in those who experience high levels of ACEs. 
This relies on active, thriving, and resilient communities.

1.4The vision for Action on ACEs Gloucestershire is a resilient county where 
communities and organisations are acting on ACEs. We want communities and 
organisations to be aware of, able to talk about and take action on ACEs. The aim 
is to build a social movement that recognises the potential lifelong impacts of 
adversity in childhood and takes action to stop childhood harm.

1.5There is a clear link with other priorities in the JHWS including mental wellbeing, 
early years and best start in life and housing. 

1.6The Health and Wellbeing Board can add value by championing ACEs, supporting 
and embedding trauma informed practice within their own organisations and 
providing resource to continue and extend the scope of the work.  Through the 
individual organisations, the Board can use the learning from our ACEs work to 
inform their recovery plans and thus further embed the vision, values and 
behaviours.

2.0 Action on ACEs Panel and Core Team

2.1 The ACEs Panel oversees the delivery of this priority and is chaired by former 
CEO of Cheltenham Borough Homes, Paul Stephenson.  Other partners on the 
panel include representatives from Gloucestershire County Council; 
Gloucestershire Constabulary; The Nelson Trust; and the Clinical 
Commissioning Group.  The Panel meets on a quarterly basis and is supported 
by a Core Team who meet more regularly.  Due to COVID-19 the Panel has 
been unable to meet since February; the next meeting is scheduled for 24th 
September 2020.

Page 13

https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/10/6/e036374


2.2 One of the areas that the Panel has been looking at is strengthening its 
membership and we are delighted that the High Sheriff of Gloucestershire, Helen 
Lovett has agreed to join us.  Helen is making ACEs one of her topics of the 
year.

2.3 Feeding into the panel are sub-groups that drive forward the priorities within the 
strategy: The Education Sub Group chaired by Kevin Day; the Communities Sub 
Group chaired by Paul Stephenson and the Training Sub Group chaired by Dr 
Imelda Bennett.

3.0 Funding

3.1 Dedicated Action on ACEs work is currently jointly funded across GCC Children 
and Families Hub; GCC Public Health and Gloucestershire Constabulary.  
Funding for the full time ACEs co-ordinator post ends in May 2021 and an 
apprentice role which also focuses on ACEs work ends in March 2021.  

3.2 We are lucky to have the Gloucestershire Constabulary Campaigns and 
Engagement Manager as part of our Core Team and the GCC Communications 
Team offers support where they can.   Discussions have taken place to fund a 
dedicated Communications Officer role for two days a week to allow us to 
disseminate our messages more widely and to support events such as the 
annual conference and Ambassador meetings but this is currently on hold during 
the COVID-19 Pandemic.

3.3 In order for the Coordinator role to continue beyond May 2021 funding needs to 
be found for 50% of the post (funding is already confirmed from GCC C&F Hub 
for the other 50%).  This equates to £24,000.  Given the impact that ACEs have 
across all our areas of interest, we are looking to partners to commit to 
resourcing this important role for another year.  To extend the apprentice role we 
would need to find an additional £11,000.

3.4 Funding has been secured by the CCG to develop training in partnership with the 
Nelson Trust on how to have difficult conversations. The training for practitioners 
working with clients with trauma histories covers an introduction to how trauma 
impacts the individual and their ability to cope and how to facilitate discussions 
based on ACEs through Trauma Informed Conversations.  The first virtual 
training days are due to go ahead in November 2020.

3.5 We are also exploring possible funding opportunities through the Lottery and 
other funding streams with the ambition to potentially develop ACEs Practitioner 
roles that would work directly in the community.

4.0 Strategy

4.1 The Action on ACEs Strategy was launched in 2018 and has been ratified by the 
Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board, Gloucestershire Safeguarding 
Children Board, Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board and Safer 
Gloucestershire. It works alongside the Children, Young People and Families 
Partnership Framework.

Page 14



4.2 The strategy has seven strategic objectives and seeks to provide a common 
language for talking about adversity and resilience:

1. We will raise awareness and understanding of ACEs with communities and 
organisations through delivery of a co-ordinated local campaign

2. We will implement training to equip communities and organisations to 
response appropriately to ACEs

3. We will continue our partnership work with communities and organisations to 
build resilience through encouraging trusted relationships and developing core 
life skills

4. We will develop relevant resources and information for people identified with 
ACEs who need signposting to further sources of support

5. We will increase our understanding of the distribution of ACEs across 
Gloucestershire

6. Organisations will incorporate ACEs informed approaches into relevant 
organisational policies, strategies and contracts

7. We will evaluate interventions and share good practice and positive outcomes 
from ACEs work across Gloucestershire, the South West and beyond.

4.3 Many communities and organisations across Gloucestershire are already 
working to prevent, intervene early and overcome the impact of ACEs, and build 
resilience, whether or not they are aware of the specific concepts / terminology. 
Several local third sector organisations have been using a ‘trauma informed 
approach’ for many years.

4.4 More recently, as sectors focus on COVID – 19 recovery many are now looking 
into what a trauma – informed approach means to them and how they can build 
resilience.  For example the Gloucestershire Educational Psychology Service 
have produced guidance for school staff, parents and pupils on how to support a 
child or young person who has experienced a traumatic event as part of the 
school recovery. 

4.5 A better understanding of ACEs and the role of resilience will complement 
existing work already going on in Gloucestershire that focuses on building 
positive relationships, social capital and resilience. This includes work such as 
restorative practice, strength based approaches, and asset-based community 
development;   strengths based approaches are fundamental to tackling health 
inequalities.

4.6 An evaluation of the first year of the strategy has been paused during COVID-19 
and will be completed as soon as capacity allows.  Reflecting on the work that 
has been carried out since the launch of the strategy, a strategy refresh was 
planned for May 2020 but due to capacity issues during COVID-19 has been put 
on hold until the autumn.  From the work that has already been completed, we 
do know that it is not just children that we need to focus on but adults as well.  
For example, we know that adults with complex needs appear in many GCC and 
partner services but that a joined up and trauma-informed approach can build 
resilience, improve outcomes and reduce their need for statutory intervention on 
an ongoing basis.  Our strategy refresh will reflect our learning thus far and the 

Page 15

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/special-educational-needs-and-disability-send/educational-psychology-service-eps/traumatic-events/


developing evidence base around ACEs. 

4.7 It should be stressed that we are learning all the time as new research is 
published.  It was really positive that the new NIHR Applied Research 
Collaboration West (ARC West) chose healthier childhoods as one of their four 
research themes in October 2019. They work with colleagues in primary care, 
child health, child and adolescent mental health, children’s social care, as well as 
police and schools. They aim to build the evidence base to enable frontline 
services, working with children and their families, to do a better job in their fight 
to reduce the harm caused by childhood adversity and deprivation.  We hope to 
collaborate with and learn from the ARC in this area.

5.0Action Plan

5.1 Action on ACES is about viral change and there is currently no formal action plan 
below the strategy.  The multi-agency sub-groups are focused on meeting their 
strategic objectives and the ACEs ambassadors take back their learning around 
ACEs to further ‘infect’ their own organisations and sphere of influence.  Ongoing 
evaluation is helping to capture learning and will inform the refresh of the 
strategic objectives.

5.2 In terms of communicating the Action on ACEs behaviours and strategic 
objectives, the first Action on ACEs conference was so well received that plans 
for a second conference were made for June 2020.  Unfortunately due to the 
current situation we have had to put this on hold until 2021.  Ambassador events 
and communications are also planned for when capacity in the system allows.  

6.0Measuring progress and addressing health inequalities

6.1 Metrics are being developed for each of the strategic objectives in the strategy.  
Some of these are process oriented such as ‘number of people who have 
reported attending training/awareness sessions’ and others cover longer term 
outcomes such as a reduction in permanent exclusions from school and an 
increase in children and young people’s Warwick Edinburgh mental wellbeing 
scores.

6.2 Progress against the strategic objectives since March this year can be seen in 
the table below:

Objective 1 – 
Communication
s

- More than 130 Action on ACEs Ambassadors
- Ambassador events paused due to COVID-19
- Social media: 981 followers; Since March there have 

been 18,000 impressions to date.
- Updates on the latest news and resources have been 

sent out to the Ambassadors every 3 – 4 weeks. 

Objective 2 - 
Training

- There has been no formal delivery of the ACEs 
awareness sessions due to COVID-19

Page 16



- Since March 2020 1500 people have accessed the e-
learning pages on the website – this is an indirect 
measure of the eLearning package and we would expect 
it to increase. There were 185 users in June alone.  

- The recovery curriculum and restore schools developed 
by Molly Macleod and partners considers the impact of 
trauma and is being promoted to Gloucestershire 
Schools

Objective 3 – 
Partnership 
Work

- The community and education sub – groups have been 
put on hold

- Vince, Family Investment Officer has been shortlisted for 
Housing Heroes Award for his work as part of the Action 
on ACEs project for Cheltenham Borough Homes. The 
awards ceremony is taking place on the 10th 
September. 

- Cheltenham Borough Council’s No Child Gets Left 
Behind Community Agreement has been established. A 
commitment between Cheltenham schools, 
organisations and residents that we will support one 
another in a way that reflects kindness, empathy and 
understanding of the impact of childhood adversity. 

- The Vulnerable CYP Cell Parenting Sub – Group has 
been set up as part of the response to COVID-19

Objective 4 – 
Information and 
Resources

- The website has had more than 6000 page views since 
March 2020 with almost 2500 users. 

Objective 5 – 
Distribution of 
ACEs

- Research has shown that the since lockdown there has 
been an increase in the number of adverse experiences 
and traumatic experiences particularly around domestic 
abuse, substance misuse and parental mental health. 

- Gloucestershire pupils took part in the Oxford Online 
Pupil Survey - Lockdown Edition and the results will be 
published in September.  

- Gloucestershire children in care have taken part in 
University of Bristol study and the results will be 
published in due course.

Objective 6 -  
Policies, 
strategies and 
contracts

- Gloucestershire Constabulary continues to work towards 
becoming a trauma – informed organisation.

- The work of the COVID-19 Vulnerable Children & Young 
People Cell will feed into the recovery agenda for 
partners

Objective 7 -  
Evaluation

- The strategy evaluation report has been delayed until 
later in the year 

- The evaluation of the  toolkits developed by Children’s 
Commissioning has been completed

- The evaluation of the midwives toolkits is complete. 

Page 17

https://nclbcheltenham.org.uk/community-agreement
https://nclbcheltenham.org.uk/community-agreement


- The ACEs coordinator contributed to a case study for a 
forthcoming document from the Local Government 
Association on ACEs.

6.3 Evaluation of the Toolkits, the community project  and our professional 
awareness survey has shown that we are having an impact on both 
professionals who work with those experiencing ACEs and health inequalities 
and on individuals and communities themselves but there is always more work to 
be done.  

6.4 Action on ACES encapsulates work to address health inequalities.  You can see 
this through the ‘Pair of ACEs tree image’ which grew out of the need to illustrate 
the relationship between adversity in the family and adversity within the 
community. It represents the issues we are trying to address.  The leaves on the 
tree represent the ‘symptoms’ of ACEs that are easily recognised in clinical, 
educational, social care and community settings.  

6.5 If the tree is planted in poor soil that is rich in systemic inequities, it won’t have 
the essential nutrients needed to encourage thriving individuals and 
communities.  Adverse community environments such as a lack of affordable 
and safe housing, community violence, systemic discrimination, and limited 
access to social and economic mobility compound one another, creating a 
negative cycle of ever worsening soil that results in withering leaves on the tree 
and an increased likelihood of ACEs being experienced. 

6.6 It is likely that ACEs are currently contributing to health inequalities.   Individuals 
who are lower on a social gradient may be more vulnerable and studies show 
that ACEs do not occur in isolation and can be inter-generationally transmitted.  
Addressing the causes and impact of ACEs will help reduce health inequalities.

7.0  What’s gone well so far?

Page 18



7.1 The ACE Ambassadors come from both statutory and voluntary sector 
organisations across Gloucestershire and as of July 2020 there were 130 of 
them.  The Ambassador’s network has been a really good way of sharing 
learning, stories and good practice and spreading the word.  You can see 
feedback below from one of the Action on ACEs Ambassadors – Lizzie Coburn, 
NSPCC Schools Service Co-ordinator:

‘One positive of being in lockdown has been that we’ve had some time free for 
training, so I’ve been able to share the Gloucestershire ACES e-learning with all 
my South West and Wales colleagues and with our Gloucestershire and South 
Gloucestershire volunteer team. I’ve had feedback that it’s really helpful, easy to 
understand and gives pause for thought.

I’m currently supporting ChildLine remotely while my usual schools service role is 
on pause. It’s given me a real insight into the challenges our young people are 
facing, the support they need and are going to need due to living through this 
pandemic. It’s a real privilege to be able to help in a small way, and I’ll be very 
keen to work with the Action on ACES team on how we can use the ACES 
project to support young people in Gloucestershire, going forward.’

Feedback from another ACEs Ambassador: 

‘I just wanted to say thank you for an amazing ACEs eLearning package! It had 
me in tears and made so much sense. I can’t wait to take this forward within the 
service.’

7.2 Learning from the ACEs Maternity Pilot has been captured and fed into the next 
phase of the pilot and shared more widely through conferences and in a journal 
article submission awaiting publication.

7.3 The Toolkits developed by Children’s Commissioning have been well received 
and utilised.

7.4 In Viral Change, changing behaviours is deemed to be important as it is 
identified as driving sustainable culture change above any other factor. This is 
because behaviours are visible and can be imitated and replicated by others in a 
way that “values” or thoughts” can’t be.  We have developed a set of clearly 
defined behaviours which have been embraced by the Ambassadors and wider 
network: change the question; show compassion; make social connections.

7.5 Colleagues from the ACEs Panel joined the discussions at the All Party 
Parliamentary Group for Prevention of ACEs and the impact of Covid - 19 which 
was held remotely on 4th June 2020.

7.6 Information on ACEs was featured as part of the Out of Schools Settings and 
Providers Covid - 19 Reopening Guidance Pack. 

Page 19



7.7 Many sectors such as Children Services, Housing and Education are considering 
trauma – informed approaches and resilience as part of their Covid – 19 
recovery.  

Page 20



1

Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Update on the Healthy Weight Priority

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Information

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health

Author Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  
Obesity is caused by a complex interaction of factors including economic, social, 
environmental and psychological influences. These include: exposure to ‘obesogenic’ 
environments; poverty; social norms around eating and physical activity; and living 
with a disability, a mental health problem, chronic stress or a history of trauma.  For 
some time, the national and local approach has focused on health promotion 
approaches.  These aim to persuade people exposed to these factors to change their 
behaviour.  However, there is strong evidence to suggest that these will not work.  
Instead steps must be taken to tackle the ‘root causes’ of obesity to make healthier 
choices the easier choices.  This approach takes tackling obesity beyond the 
responsibility of the individual.

There is already a considerable amount of obesity prevention activity underway in 
Gloucestershire including commissioned interventions and community-led activities.  
However, if we are to make a tangible difference in this agenda a new approach is 
needed using the whole systems methodology. This requires additional resources 
that have not yet been secured.  

The Board approved the Health Weight Statement of Strategic Intent in September 
2019.  However, work in this area was halted as staff have been redeployed to work 
on the County Council and system response to Covid-19.  It is anticipated that work 
on this priority can restart later this year.

Recommendations to Board: 
1. To note the progress to date and the delay caused by covid-19
2. To note the need for additional funding 

Page 21

Agenda Item 9



2

Financial/Resource Implications: 

The Health Weight Statement of Strategic Intent outlines what work can be achieved 
within the current resources available.  This includes existing prevention and weight 
management work.  However, if we are to achieve the goal of implementing a whole 
systems approach to obesity and tackle the root causes that lead to people being 
overweight and obese then additional funding will be required.   Further work is 
needed to determine the exact resource needed but this has been estimated to be in 
the region of £100,000 to £125,000 a year.

Page 22



Healthy Weight Update for the Health and Wellbeing Board
22 September 2020

1. Background

Following the Health and Wellbeing Board’s (HWB) decision to include healthy 
lifestyles as one of the seven priorities, it was decided to focus initially on healthy 
weight.  This builds on the ‘tackling obesity’ priority in the earlier Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy.

Obesity is caused by a complex interaction of factors including economic, social, 
environmental and psychological influences. These include: exposure to 
‘obesogenic’ environments; poverty; social norms around eating and physical 
activity; and living with a disability, a mental health problem, chronic stress or a 
history of trauma.  For some time, the national and local approach has focused on 
health promotion approaches.  These aim to persuade people exposed to these 
factors to change their behaviour.  However, there is strong evidence to suggest that 
these will not work.  Instead steps must be taken to tackle the ‘root causes’ of 
obesity to make healthier choices the easier choices.  This approach takes tackling 
obesity beyond the responsibility of the individual.

 There is already a considerable amount of obesity prevention activity underway in 
Gloucestershire including commissioned interventions and community-led activities. 
(A snapshot of current healthy weight activities and services is given in Appendix 1).  
However, despite ten years of local effort (and in line with the national picture) there 
has been no reduction in obesity levels and obesity-related inequalities are 
increasing.  There is now also emerging evidence that obesity increases the severity 
of Covid-19 symptoms.  So, there is a need to work differently and evidence shows 
that whole systems working can be effective.  This takes an iterative place-based 
approach to understanding and addressing specific social, economic and 
environmental root causes.  

2. Strategic direction

In September 2019 a draft statement of strategic intent was presented to the HWB.   
This was agreed and adopted by the Board.  It can be found on the link: 
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s55548/GHWB%20Healthy%20W
eight%20Position%20Statement.pdf

The HWB agreed to the following vision and ambition for the healthy weight priority:

We want everyone in Gloucestershire to enjoy the benefits of a healthy weight.

 The local ambition is to achieve a significant, sustained reduction in the level of 
obesity and a significant reduction in the inequalities gap by 2030. 

Page 23

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s55548/GHWB%20Healthy%20Weight%20Position%20Statement.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s55548/GHWB%20Healthy%20Weight%20Position%20Statement.pdf


 In line with the national ambition we want to halve the prevalence of childhood 
obesity over the next ten years.

 Health inequalities will be the critical thread and our success will be gauged by 
measuring how well those who are most affected by obesity-related health 
inequalities are doing. 

Gloucestershire County Council was one of four Local Authorities participating in the 
national ‘whole systems obesity’ programme (2017-19), working with national and 
international experts to develop tools to support Local Authorities to implement this 
approach. The approach set out in the Healthy Weight Statement of Strategic Intent 
builds on this learning. It was developed by the local healthy weight working group 
and has been informed by critical review of published evidence, engagement with 
national and international experts and with local stakeholders, communities and 
families. It scopes out in broad terms how we propose to build on existing good 
practice to move towards a more systematic approach to obesity prevention and 
identifies key priorities for action over the next 2-3 years.

3. Governance

The work to deliver the healthy weight objective is driven by the Healthy Weight 
working group.  This multi-agency group is led by Public Health.  As a result of 
Covid-19 the group has not met for some time.  It is anticipated that this group will be 
reconvened later this year.  The Healthy Weight Working Group feeds into the 
Prevention and Self-Care Board.  It was decided that the Prevention and Self-Care 
Board would merge with the Enabling Active Communities Group.  Prior to Covid-19, 
early discussions were underway to work through how the groups could be merged 
and yet retain the successful elements of groups.

There is also an obvious synergy with the physical activity HWB priority.  The GCC 
lead for Healthy Weight sits on the steering group for the We Can Move whole 
systems approach to increasing levels of physical activity in the county.

4. Funding

The healthy weight services outlined in Appendix 1 are all funded from either 
Gloucestershire County Council’s (GCC) Public Health budget or by the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG).  GCC are currently exploring options to continue 
funding the children’s weight management service when the existing funding stream 
ends in March 2021.  

The Health Weight Statement of Strategic Intent outlines what work can be achieved 
within the current resources available.  This includes existing prevention and weight 
management work.  However, if we are to achieve the goal of implementing a whole 
systems approach to obesity and tackle the root causes that lead to people being 
overweight and obese then additional funding will be required.   Further work is 
needed to determine the exact resource needed but this has been estimated to be in 
the region of £100,000 to £125,000 a year.

Page 24



Implementing a whole systems approach at scale requires dedicated capacity to 
build and support systems capacity and networks in ‘intervention communities’ (a 
‘train the trainer’ type approach).  Trained local ‘catalysts’ are supported to bring 
different parts of their local system together to co-create locally tailored action plans 
based on a clear understanding of specific local causes and assets. Central to this 
approach is engaging more widely than our traditional partnerships, in order to 
involve all those who have the ability to influence the local causes of obesity. 

Ongoing contact with the system is needed to understand what is working, what isn’t 
and how the system is changing, so that local action can be adapted to accordingly. 
Though this way of working requires some upfront investment it ultimately delivers 
efficiencies through joining up existing assets and embedding healthy weight into 
policies and programmes, rather commissioning new interventions. Such an 
approach could initially be tested in one or two districts depending on the level of 
resource available.

5. Measuring progress and addressing health inequalities

There is currently no agreed approach to monitoring whole systems delivery and we 
are part of a regional working group led by Public Health England and Bristol 
University to develop an evaluation and monitoring framework for local areas to use. 

Meanwhile the following indicators will be used to monitor local outcomes and 
capture the learning.

 Obesity prevalence among 4-5 year olds and 10-11 year olds
 Gap in prevalence between 10-11 year old children living in deprivation decile 1 

and 10 
 Pupil Wellbeing Survey (PWS) indicators (diet and physical activity)
 Numbers of accredited healthy settings e.g. workplaces and evidence of impact
 Numbers of adults and children accessing weight management services (total 

and by age group, gender, ethnicity and deprivation) and outcomes (weight loss, 
health improvement)

 Qualitative data - stakeholder and community feedback and case studies to 
understand what is working well and how the system is adapting so the local 
response can adapt accordingly.

6. Next steps

The evidence strongly suggests that a whole system approach is the best way to 
tackle obesity and help our population achieve and maintain a healthy weight.   The 
activity outlined in Appendix 1 and the Statement of Strategic Intent will make some 
inroads but it remains a programme management approach.  If we want to deliver 
change at scale and reduce obesity levels sustainably within our county then this will 
require a different way of working.  The Healthy Weight Working Group needs to 

Page 25



reconvene and take this work forward.  The main task will be sourcing the funding 
needed to provide the additional resource to do this.  

7. Recommendations

1. To note the progress to date and the delay caused by covid-19
2. To note the need for additional funding 

.   

Page 26



Appendix 1: Existing healthy weight activity and opportunities for alignment 

This section provides a snapshot of some of the activities already contributing to the 
healthy weight agenda as well as opportunities to strengthen our overall approach 
through effective alignment with other strategic priorities. [It is not intended to be 
comprehensive or to reflect all of the work that’s being delivered by partner 
organisations and communities]. 

Preventive action to reduce obesity at population level:

 Gloucestershire Healthy Living and Learning Framework (GHLL): 
Gloucestershire’s well-established healthy schools programme includes explicit 
action to support healthy eating and physical activity in schools including delivery 
of The Daily Mile

 We Can Move: Gloucestershire Active Partnership’s programme to get 30,000 
inactive people active. This model combines systems thinking, behaviour change 
methodology and social movement building and is an opportunity to transfer 
learning as well as directly supporting healthy weight

 Health and Planning Framework: In development. Brings together health and 
planning to enable planners to make best use of existing levers to improve food 
and physical activity environments

 Gloucestershire Food Strategy: Scoping phase. Potential to include ambition for 
Gloucestershire to become a Sustainable Food County

 Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy: Includes action to encourage 
and enable active travel and public transport use.

 Gloucestershire Healthy Workplace Accreditation Scheme: In development. 
Supporting employees to support staff health and wellbeing including healthy 
eating, physical activity and weight management support. Linking with ICS 
workforce health and wellbeing agenda.   

 Gloucestershire Better Births Programme: Explicit action on prevention includes 
the new ‘First 1001 Days Programme’, which offers healthy lifestyles support for 
women in vulnerable circumstances to manage their weight during and after 
pregnancy and to reduce the risk of their child developing obesity in the early 
years

 Gloucestershire Oral Health Plan: Action on reducing sugar to be developed
 NHS Long Term Plan: Local response in development. 
 Food and families project: A place-based, whole systems test and learn project, 

working with Podsmead community to co-create interventions to address local 
barriers to eating healthy food including improved access and food skills 

 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Health and Wellbeing Strategy: 
including action to support the health and wellbeing of patients, staff and the 
wider community. Includes a specific project (in development) to support staff to 

Page 27



maintain a healthier weight, based on the findings of qualitative research 
undertaken with nurses across Trust sites to explore barriers and facilitators

 ‘Inclusive Growth’ plans: In development. Action on skills and adult education; 
employment and worklessness; poverty, income and debt, have the potential to 
lift families out of poverty, thereby reducing their risk of developing obesity. 
Includes links to the Local Industrial Strategy

Weight management support for people already affected by obesity 

 Targeted weight management referral options for adults: Services are in place 
including tier 2, 3 and 4 services (adults) and this provision is included in G-Care 
across clinical pathways (current eligibility criteria are below NICE thresholds for 
tier 2 [BMI 27.5] and above NICE thresholds for tier 3 and tier 4 [BMI 40+])                                                                                                

 The National Diabetes Prevention Programme: in place across the county 
offering alternative weight management support for people with non-diabetic 
hypoglycaemia

 Weight management support for pregnant women: The countywide Healthy 
Lifestyles Service has invested in a midwife to develop systems and pathways to 
improve access to weight management support during pregnancy and post-natal   

 Weight management services for children with obesity: GCC and the CCG are 
working with children and families to developing a pathway of weight 
management support including community-based support and a specialist service 
for children with severe obesity. This will go live later in the year.

 NHS Long Term Plan: Local response in development. Includes explicit activity 
around delivery of weight management support to adults and children.

Page 28



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Item for 
decision or 
information?

For Information

Sponsor Angela Potter 
Director of Strategy and Partnerships

Author Karl Gluck
Claire Procter
Eddie O’Neil

Organisation Gloucestershire Health and Care Foundation Trust

Key Issues:
The Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Strategy has seven priorities one of 
which is Mental Wellbeing.  Our ambition is for every resident of 
Gloucestershire to enjoy the best possible mental health and well-being 
throughout the course of their life.

To achieve this we have:
 An established mental health strategy
 A clear Action plan which has been developed and overseen by the 

Mental Health & Wellbeing Partnership Board
 A clear multi-agency delivery vehicle and governance arrangements
 A plan to develop a performance dashboard to monitor the progress in 

delivering the strategy

Recommendations to Board: 

To note the content of report; and consider:

How the Board might further support joint working on mental health promotion 
and the interdependencies with the other Health and Wellbeing Board 
priorities.

Financial/Resource Implications: 

Mental health and wellbeing services are predominately funded on a recurrent basis 
from mainstream commissioning budgets from within the CCG and from the County 
Council Children and Adult Social Care and Public Health budgets. 

Further investments are made by the Police and Crime Commissioner on specific 
projects.

The CCG has increased funding in mental health services in 2020/21 in line with 
NHSE Mental Health Minimum Investment Standard requirements.

Page 29

Agenda Item 10



Background/Context

1. The Gloucestershire health & Wellbeing Strategy has seven priorities one of 
which is Mental Wellbeing.  Our ambition is for every resident of Gloucestershire to 
enjoy the best possible mental health and well-being throughout the course of their 
life. The key delivery vehicle for this priority will be the Gloucestershire All Age Mental 
Health and Wellbeing strategy which includes key priority areas as follows:

Theme 1: Increase the focus on the wider factors of mental wellbeing and promote good 
mental health for all 

Theme 2: Get better at spotting the signs of mental ill health and intervening earlier 

Theme 3: Improve the outcomes for people experiencing mental health crisis

Theme 4: Improve the wellbeing of parents, children and young people

Theme 5: Continue to improve joined up approaches to reducing suicide rates across 
Gloucestershire

Theme 6: Focus on recovery and resilience

Theme 7: Ensure Gloucestershire is a mental health friendly county

2. The implementation of the strategy is overseen by the Mental Health and Wellbeing 
Partnership Board (MHWPB). The MHWPB has been in place since 2015 and now provides 
a forum whereby strategic partner organisations and people with lived experience/carers 
work together to deliver the aims of the MH and Wellbeing Strategy.  The Board has an 
Independent Chair and is supported by Commissioners from the CCG and County Council

3. The MHWPB have a number of subgroups which provide oversight of the action 
plans and provide regular reports and updates to the Board.  The steering groups are made 
up of commissioners, service providers and people with lived experience.

Governance and Monitoring Arrangements

 

Page 30



4. The MHWBPB has oversees the implementation of the MHWB strategy.  The sub-
groups have action plans which are performance rated and feedback is provided to the 
Board on a regular basis on highlight report basis.  Further work is required to develop a 
performance dashboard for the Board to measure progress against action card objectives.

Covid Incident Management Arrangements

5. During the pandemic, the response to the mental health impacts of Covid-19 on both 
population mental health and mental health services, has been overseen by two multi-
agency groups, the ‘Mental Health and Wellbeing Cell’ and the ‘Mental Health and Learning 
Disabilities Recovery & Reset Cell’. 

6. These groups are working together to oversee a number of work-streams including, 
targeted support for vulnerable groups, workforce wellbeing, suicide prevention, recovery in 
statutory and non-statutory mental health services, and demand modelling. 

7. There is scope to learn from the experiences of these groups and consider how their 
work is integrated with the work of the existing MHWPB and the county’s current mental 
health and wellbeing strategy as we move through the next phase of the pandemic; and 
consider how the county responds to the medium- long term impacts of Covid-19 on mental 
health. 

Wider Stakeholder Engagement

8. The MHWPB engages with a broad arrange of stakeholders via regular events.  
These are usually 2-3 times per year focussing on key issues that the Board wishes to 
engage and consult with a broader range of patients / carers / stakeholders.  For example 
engagement events have been held on co-existing conditions, personality disorders which 
have helped shaped our strategic planning and investments.  During Covid both the 
MHWBPB and stakeholder events have been on hold but there is the opportunity to use 
digital technology going forward to engage with a much broader audience.

Partnership Board Review

9. Prior to Covid the Partnership Board (PB) had launched a review of the range of 
Partnership Boards established in Gloucestershire which work differently (e.g. Autism 
Spectrum Conditions, Learning Disabilities).  

10. Throughout the Covid lockdown restrictions the Partnership Board Chairs and Service 
Leads were meeting via an online platform and have been producing a regular Partnership 
Board bulletin for all stakeholders during lockdown.

11. The review of the PBs will take into account stakeholder experiences of managing 
response to the impacts of Covid-19 on mental health and the new ways of partnership 
working which have emerged across sectors and agencies. 

Monitoring Function

12. The MHWBPB has oversees the implementation of the MHWB strategy.  The sub-
groups illustrated above have action plans which are performance rated and feedback is 
provided to the board on a regular basis using highlight reports.  Further work is required to 
develop a quantitative dashboard for the board to oversee.

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Social Isolation and Loneliness

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Information

Sponsor Mary Hutton/Chris Brierley

Author Jo Underwood

Organisation NHS Gloucestershire CCG on behalf of partners in the 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care System

Key Issues:  
Safer Gloucestershire and the ICS Enabling Active Communities (EAC) group 
are co-leading on the Health & Wellbeing Priority of Social Isolation and 
Loneliness.
  
A deep-dive on this area was completed a year ago which discussed the 
issues and highlighted some potential priorities.  

EAC reviewed the deep-dive document at their meeting in August and held a 
discussion on how Covid-19 has both altered the experience of many citizens, 
and changed our thinking on how we can work together to address the issues.

A short life task and finish group has been established to develop our thinking 
and a joint statement and plan for our next steps as a partnership.

Recommendations to Board: 

Support the task and finish group and receive their recommendations on next 
steps.

Financial/Resource Implications: 

No costs identified yet, but it is suggested that some of the ‘Stage 2’ local 
systems grant funding from NHS Charities Together could be used to support 
projects and initiatives – either existing work in this field, or new initiatives 
arising from the Task & Finish.

Page 33

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

Deep Dive 

Social Isolation & 

Loneliness 

2019 

 

 

 

 

#loneliness  

 

Second Draft: 1st May 2019 

 

Page 35



2 
 

Foreword 

The relationships we have with our friends, family, neighbours and colleagues are, 

for many of us, the most important things in our lives. There is a strong link between 

having meaningful social connections and living a healthy and successful life. We 

also know that having more connected communities means a more thriving, 

productive society, in which we can all contribute and live fulfilling lives.  

Loneliness and isolation is not the same thing. Social isolation is defined as ‘an 

objective state determined by the quantity of social relationships and contacts 

between individuals, across groups and communities.’ Meanwhile loneliness is 

defined as ‘a subjective state based on a person’s emotional perception of the 

number and/or quality of social connections they need compared to what is currently 

being experienced’. Therefore, it is possible for an individual to be socially isolated 

without feeling lonely, or conversely feel lonely without being socially isolated. 

We know that loneliness can affect anyone – from teenagers and young adults to 

new parents, carers, and the recently bereaved, from students starting university to 

older people and those with disabilities, from those moving to a new area of the 

country to refugees.  

Loneliness isn’t new but the way our society works is changing rapidly. We have new 

ways of connecting and communicating with each other where it is now possible to 

spend a day working, shopping, travelling, interacting with business without seeing 

or speaking to another human being. This can be repeated day after day. We need 

to plan for connection and create moments of human contact.  

Loneliness and social isolation is one of the priorities of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board. They requested this ‘deep dive’ to be able to describe what we can do as a 

county to create more connected friendships, neighbourhoods, communities and 

workplaces. 

The Enabling Activity Communities Group and Safer Gloucestershire Board, through 

this deep dive, have started to open up a conversation on loneliness and social 

isolation, to raise awareness of its impacts and describe practically what we can do 

as a county to improve our overall wellbeing. Undertaking this deep dive was a good 

fit in using a PLACE based approach, and built on the work already being 

undertaken by each of the District Councils to Strengthen Local Communities. 

This deep dive into social isolation and loneliness will form one of the seven priorities 

within the Health & Wellbeing Strategy which is due to be published in July 2019.  

 

 

 

Page 36



3 
 

Contents  

 

1. Background  

The focus of Gloucestershire 

Life events that can make us feel lonely and their preventative measures 

Factors that contribute towards social isolation and loneliness  

 

 

2. Social Isolation and Loneliness in Gloucestershire  

Age, living alone, deprivation and frailty  

What does success look like in tackling social isolation and loneliness?  

 

 

3. Learning from the evidence base (national and international)  

Children and Young People 

Adults and Older People  

 

 

4. Our Approach 

Key themes from the deep dive 

 

 

5. Key Priorities  

Personal Preference  

Family, Friends and Partners 

Rurality and getting to know your neighbours 

Sustainable communities 

Transport 

Environment 

 

 

6. Recommendation and Next Steps  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



4 
 

1. Background 

Gloucestershire recognises that everyone feels lonely from time to time. But when 

people are always lonely they are likely to suffer significant ill health and other 

negative consequences.  

Gloucestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) reviewed the comprehensive 

document ‘A Connected Society – A Strategy for Tackling Loneliness’(1) which 

published the work started by the MP late Jo Cox at their November 2018 meeting. 

On recognition of this important issue, the HWB requested a ‘deep dive’ on social 

isolation and loneliness. A deep dive gives an opportunity to look in detail at the 

factors affecting people experiences and service’s perceptions of social isolation and 

loneliness and the HWB’s approach to improving this.  

Section 1 of this deep dive provides a summary of the causal factors for feeling 

socially isolated or lonely; these are mostly based on the recent analysis completed 

by the Office of National Statistics in 2018.  

Section 2 sets out what information we know about Gloucestershire’s population, 

the factors affecting social isolation and loneliness and those areas which will need 

greater focus by the HWB.  

Section 3 describes what we can learn from the evidence base including projects we 

are already undertaking in Gloucestershire which have been subject to an 

independent review. This section also looks at opportunities to learn from both 

national and international evidence base.  

Section 4 sets out the key themes from the deep dive having worked with 

individuals, District Councils, Gloucestershire County Council, the CCG, community 

and voluntary groups, all of whom have contributed towards the suggested priorities 

within Section 5.  

Section 6 is seeking feedback from EAC on the content of this deep dive, 

highlighting areas that may be missing and suggested next steps.  

Loneliness can affect anyone of any age and background – from an older person 

mourning the loss of a life partner to a young person who feels different and isolated 

from their friends. Across our communities there are people who can go for days, 

weeks or even a month without seeing a friend or family member.  

The loss of social contact can be damaging to our humanity and to the health and 

wellbeing of everyone affected. Research shows that loneliness is as damaging to 

our physical health as smoking (Holt-Lunstad at al, 2015) (2).  

One of the key challenges to wellbeing is loneliness. Loneliness has been largely 

seen as problem in older age. Loneliness can be a factor that can compromise 

Page 38



5 
 

wellbeing across the child, young person and adult life course rather than being 

defined to old age/older adults.  

Loneliness and social isolation are experiences that most of us will encounter at 

some point in our lives either as a momentary experience or a more protracted 

experience resulting from the loss of a parent or friend.  

For these reasons emphasis is placed within this deep dive on the importance of 

strong communities and assets that we can create or develop to help combat social 

isolation and loneliness. The work with neighbourhoods, communities and District 

Councils is integral to this.  

 

Definition of loneliness  

Loneliness is a gap between actual and desired social relationships. These 

deficiencies can be in terms of either the quality or quality of relationships. 

(Peplau and Perlman, 1981) (3) 

Loneliness and isolation is not the same thing. Social isolation is defined as ‘an 

objective state determined by the quantity of social relationships and contacts 

between individuals, across groups and communities.’ Meanwhile loneliness is 

defined as ‘a subjective state based on a person’s emotional perception of the 

number and/or quality of social connections they need compared to what is currently 

being experienced’. Therefore, it is possible for an individual to be socially isolated 

without feeling lonely, or conversely feel lonely without being socially isolated. 

The factors that contribute towards social isolation and loneliness  

To tackle social isolation and loneliness successfully, we need a deeper 

understanding of who is at highest risk and what is effective in preventing and 

reducing it. Below is a summary of the findings from the Office for National Statistics 

(ONS) in 2018 (4) where members of the public were asked following questions: 

 How often do you feel lonely? 

 How often do you feel that you lack companionship? 

 How often do you feel left out?  

 How often do you feel isolated from others?  

In 2016 to 2017, 5% of all adults (aged 16 years and over) in England reported 

feeling lonely “often” or “always”. That is 1 in 20 adults. Furthermore, 16% of adults 

reported feeling lonely sometimes and 24% occasionally.  

What can be concluded from the chart overleaf is that women are more likely to feel 

lonely often or always than men.  

 

Page 39



6 
 

Figure 1. Reported frequency of loneliness by sex  

England  

 

Ref: ONS, April 2018 link 

Children and Young People  

There can be predictable transition points that can challenge social networks for a 

child or young person. These can include moving school, exam pressures, moving 

away from home or starting work.   

There can be other education related challenges that may trigger loneliness which 

can include putting children into academic, sporting ability groups or choosing teams. 

The stigma associated with free school meals has also been reported as a 

contributory factor to social isolation, as well as school punishment practices 

involving separation, isolation or exclusion. 

Other events that can contribute to loneliness are being bullied, loss of significant 

relationships (bereavement, moving house or school, relationship breakdown, 

practical barriers to social participation including disability).  

It was reported that those aged 16 to 24 years were significantly more likely to report 

feeling lonely “often/always”.  

Adults and the Older Person  

People who are widowed are significantly more likely to report feeling lonely ‘some of 

the time’. By contrast people who are married or in civil partnerships are significantly 

less likely to report experiencing loneliness “often/always” or “occasionally”.  

Page 40

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/lonelinesswhatcharacteristicsandcircumstancesareassociatedwithfeelinglonely/2018-04-10


7 
 

Those who report their general health to be “very bad” or “bad” are significantly more 

likely to report feeling lonely “often/always” and significantly less likely to say they 

“hardly ever” fet lonely compared to other groups.  

Those who report having a long-term illness or disability are significantly more likely 

to report feeling lonely “often/always” and “some of the time”.  

People who are unemployed (and seeking work) are significantly more likely to 

report loneliness “often/always” than those in employment or self-employment.  

People who are not living as part of a couple are significantly more likely to report 

experiencing loneliness “often/always”, “some of the time” or “occasionally” than 

those who report living as part of a couple.  

People who live alone are at greater risk of feeling lonely more often. Those living 

alone are significantly more likely to report loneliness “often/always” and “some of 

the time” whilst those living with others are significantly more likely to report “hardly 

ever” or “never” feeling lonely.  

Those who rent their property are significantly more likely to report loneliness 

“often/always” and “some of the time” than those who own their home. Homeowner 

households tend to have greater financial wealth with an average annual household 

income greater for those in owner occupied homes than those in rented homes. 

Hence, it may not be housing tenure in itself that is associated with how often people 

feel lonely but financial security. 

Those who feel a sense of belonging to their neighbourhood “not very strongly” or 

“not at all strongly” are significantly more likely than those with a stronger sense of 

belonging to report experiencing loneliness “often/always”. This suggests those who 

feel they belong to their neighbourhood less strongly are at greater risk of loneliness. 

Those who report being “neither satisfied nor dissatisfied” or “fairly/very dissatisfied” 

with their local area as a place to live are significantly more likely to report feeling 

lonely “often/always”.  

In summary and based on extensive research by the ONS, the following contributory 

factors can be associated with social isolation and loneliness: 

 Age 

 Sex 

 Marital status 

 Respondent and partners’ (if applicable) gross income 

 Disability status  

 General health  

 Number of adults in the household 

 Caring responsibilities 

Page 41



8 
 

 Whether people chat to neighbours more than to just say hello 

 Feeling as though you belong to a neighbourhood 

 Satisfaction with your local area as a place to live 

 The number of years lived in a local neighbourhood 

 How often you meet up in person with family members or friends 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



9 
 

2. Social Isolation and Loneliness in Gloucestershire 

According to the Gloucestershire Community Wellbeing Survey in 2017, 1 in 2 adult 

social care users in Gloucestershire reported to have as much social contact as they 

would like. 

Over a quarter (28.5%) of adult carers in Gloucestershire said they have as much 

social contact as they would like. 

The survey also identified that 38% of all respondents feel lonely at times, and 

loneliness is highest in those with a mental health issue, a long term illness and/or a 

learning disability. Those with a car as their main form of transport considered 

themselves less lonely’. However, please note, this was based on a small sample of 

606 respondents.  

Taking into consideration the contributory factors leading to social isolation and 

loneliness highlighted in Section 1, below is some of the data available on 

Gloucestershire residents regarding age, adults living in single households, those 

with access to the internet, deprivation and frailty.  

Age can be a contributory factor to social isolation and loneliness. Below is a map of 

Gloucestershire highlighting the following areas as having a higher incidence on 

people aged over 65 years (Figure 2): 

 Cheltenham (part of) 

 Chipping Campden 

 Dursley 

 Fairford 

 Lechlade  

 Painswick 

 Winchcombe  

 Wotton-under-Edge  

Overleaf is a map (Figure 3) which shows by Local Super Output Area (LSOA) the 

proportion of people who are aged 65+ and living alone. It seems to shows highest 

rates in the following areas: 

 North Cotswold (Stow, Moreton, and Bourton) 

 Parts of a few Stroud towns and villages 

 Coleford 

 Sporadic neighbourhoods in Gloucester and Cheltenham (e.g. the retirement 

flats village behind B and Q in Gloucester). 

 

 

Page 43



10 
 

Figure 2: Population aged 65+ by Ward 

Figure 3: Proportion of population aged 65+ and living alone  

 

Page 44



11 
 

Whilst deprivation (Figure 4) doesn’t have a direct contributory factor to social 

isolation and loneliness, it is known that satisfaction with your local area as a place 

to live and living in rental accommodation are factors. The following areas are 

highlighted as being more deprived within Gloucestershire: 

 Cinderford  

 Gloucester City 

 West Cheltenham  

Figure 4: Indices of deprivation in Gloucestershire  

 

Poor health and disability are recognised contributory factors to social isolation and 

loneliness. Below is a map of Gloucestershire showing those areas where 6% or 

more of the adult population are frail (Figure 5). Please note that frailty is not always 

associated with older age. These areas include: 

 Brockworth 

 Chipping Campden 

 Churchdown 

 Gloucester  

 Lydney 

 Mitcheldean 

 Moreton-in-Marsh 

 Tetbury  

 Tewkesbury 

Page 45



12 
 

Figure 5: Frailty by Ward and GP Practice  

 

 

Whilst use of the internet, mobile phone and social media are seen as ways to 

reduce social isolation and loneliness, particularly for those who live rurally or are 

older with families and friends living a long distance away, they can also be 

contributory factors i.e. excessive use of social media with little human contact. This 

has been reported as a casual factor of loneliness amongst children and young 

people.  

Overleaf is a map (Figure 6), although now quite old, shows the likelihood of having 

a mobile phone with internet access. The LSOAs where people are most likely to 

have a phone with access to the internet are located in Cheltenham, Gloucester and 

Tewkesbury. 

 

 

 

 

Page 46



13 
 

 

Figure 6: Likelihood of having a mobile phone with internet access by LSOA 

 

 

 

In summary, these maps show there is no correlation between age and deprivation 

but there is some direct correlation between age and frailty in some parts of 

Gloucestershire. This will help to focus our efforts into preventing social isolation and 

loneliness within Gloucestershire for those who are older and have poor health 

and/or a disability.  

We can also use these maps to identify areas where there are a higher proportion of 

older and younger people with no or little access to the internet to look at creative 

ways for people, particularly those living rurally can feel more engaged with what is 

happening with their friends, family and community.  

 

 

 

 

Page 47



14 
 

3. Learning from the evidence base (local, national and international) 

Social Isolation and Loneliness has received a high profile within the last year 

following the publication of the National Strategy for Tackling Social Isolation in 2018 

(1) and was based on the work started by the late MP Jo Cox. Within this strategy it 

lays out the foundations for change at a national level. In this section of the deep 

dive, it will bring in the learning from this national report as well and using some 

illustrative local examples from across Gloucestershire.  

Gloucestershire has some excellent examples of what it is already doing to prevent 

and reduce the impact of social isolation and loneliness. These local examples will 

be illustrated within this section of the report.  

Children and Young People  

Children and young people express that avoiding loneliness is important to them, but 

they differ in the amount of time they want to spend with others and in their 

expectations of what “good” relationships with others look like. Approaches to 

avoiding loneliness are reflected in these individual differences. 

Additionally, we start from different places in the ease with which we form friendships 

and make connections with others. This may involve overcoming: 

 Individual emotional or mental hurdles: such as shyness, introversion, or 

mental health challenges 

 

 Practical hurdles: such as accessibility issues linked to mobility or sensory 

impairments, transport and money for joining in activities 

 

 Social hurdles: linked to acceptance by others and “fitting in”, which may 

relate to perceived differences from others (such as social, cultural, ethnic and 

other visible or presumed differences as well as the issues noted previously 

as emotional or mental hurdles and practical hurdles) 

These different starting points mean that young people shape their individual 

approaches to avoiding loneliness, based on their own current situation, past 

experiences of relationships and loneliness, and their ideas of what “good” or “good 

enough” relationships entail. They also vary in the amount of time it may take them 

to form relationships. 

Specific approaches to avoid becoming lonely involve familiar methods of making 

and sustaining social connections, including: 

 Use of social media to maintain connections and develop new ones 

 

 Joining in sports, clubs and activities 

 

Page 48



15 
 

 Purposefully reaching out, talking to people and nurturing relationships 

 

 Finding ways to overcome hurdles to connecting (for example, offering lifts to 

people who otherwise could not join in, hanging around with a group to try to 

make new connections) 

 

Gloucestershire has undertaken and continues to work on a number of initiatives 

which specifically support children with health conditions, mental health issues and 

disabilities, all of which are recognised contributory factors to social isolation and 

loneliness.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adults and Older People  

Public services and organisations (including VCSE organisations) have a vital role to 

play in helping people to secure the support they need. There are opportunities for 

services and organisations to connect people to help them improve their social 

wellbeing.  

Below are some examples of initiatives that we are undertaking in Gloucestershire, 

those from elsewhere in the country and also examples from Europe.  

 

Case Study – Children with hemiplegia and use of magic tricks  

Breathe Magic Intensive Therapy programme was an Easter Camp in 2019 for local 

people and young people aged between 7 and 18 affected by hemiplegia and 

quadriplegia. Seven local children have been involved in the first phase of the 

programme which uses specially chosen magic tricks to help children with their 

conditions. 

Taught by professional Magic Circle magicians and occupational therapists, the 

programme offers 60 hours of therapy over a 10 day camp, where Breathe combine 

the learning of carefully chosen magic tricks with a focus on everyday activities such 

as cutting up food, or crafts.   

The aim is to significantly improve the young peoples’ hand function, social interaction, 

confidence and independence over the course of the programme – and it works. 

The camp started in Gloucestershire on 8 April and culminated in a special Magic 

Show involving the young people on 18 April at the Parabola Arts Centre, Cheltenham. 

There are just over 100 children with hemiplegia and quadriplegia in Gloucestershire 

and one of the reported benefits of this programme was for children and young people 

to be able to meet each other with similar experiences.  

Page 49



16 
 

Social Prescribing  

Social Prescribing is helping to address a range of social, economic and 

environmental factors that can have an impact on people’s health. Gloucestershire 

Clinical Commissioning Group and Gloucestershire County Council have invested in 

a Community Wellbeing Service (CWS) which is run by a range of locally based 

providers. We know at that least 50% of the referrals to CWS are related to social 

isolation and loneliness. Examples of where the CWS has made a difference to 

people’s lives is by introducing people to community groups, services and support 

within their local area.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case Study – Community Wellbeing Service (Stroud) 

36 year old lady referred to the service by her GP. She presented to GP after having 

split up with her partner which had resulted in her experiencing anxiety and Social 

Isolation. 

She had also been signed off work due to her anxiety which was adding to her Social 

Isolation. She was subsequently assessed by one of the Community Wellbeing Agents 

(CWA) and it was established very quickly that she had strengths and talents around 

creativity. She felt that if she could get involved in a group around Art that it would help 

with her anxiety and isolation. She was also clear that she wanted an environment that 

was comfortable and supportive. 

Working with the CWA they began to identify various options as well as more specific 

support around her anxiety.  An Art group was identified in the local community and 

she felt comfortable to attend. As well as making links with the group and attending the 

sessions she was linked in with the Mental Health and Wellbeing Service (MH&WB) for 

ongoing support around her anxiety. She also started to attend an Art group with the 

MH&WB service. 

Over a couple of weeks, she began to grow in confidence and became less anxious as 

well as building up a network of support with other people in the groups. She felt ready 

to go back to work and has now re-established her work pattern and relationships 

within the work environment. She continues to receive support in the evenings as she 

can’t make appointments during the day. 

She is currently receiving 1:1 support and keeping up the contact with both services. 

She has also been signposted to Listening Post. 

With support she would like to look at a group for 20-30yr olds around Anxiety and 

feels that as she grows in confidence and reduces her isolation she will be in a 

position to volunteer and help support the group. 

  

Page 50



17 
 

Social prescribing is more than a method of signposting, but rather a way in which 

people can be helped to take active steps to seek out support and engage with their 

communities. We know that the CWS has also helped to reduce pressure on urgent 

care within the NHS on review at 6 months post CWS intervention.  

Social prescribing also has a significant feature in the recently published NHS Long 

Term Plan (5). Through social prescribing the range of support available to people 

will widen, diversify and become more accessible across the country. Link workers 

within Primary Care Networks will work with people to develop tailored plans and 

connect them to local groups and support services. Over 1,000 trained social 

prescribing link workers will be in place by the end of 2020/21 rising further by 

2023/24, with the aim that over 900,000 people nationally are able to be referred to 

social prescribing schemes by then. Gloucestershire is currently working on its 

model for social prescribing to support PCNs. 

Some CWS providers are starting to collaborate with local employers using their 

volunteering schemes for employees to support and empower a person local to 

where they live to engage with their local community. This weekly support lasts for 4 

to 6 months and is a model that could be rolled out across the county. One example 

of this is the collaboration between staff working for Coventry Building Society and 

Caring for Communities and People (CCP) who is also a CWS provider.  

Wellbeing in the Workplace  

Whist Gloucestershire has a Work Place and Wellbeing Plan and has successfully 

worked with a number of small, medium and large employers across the county, in 

Sweden part of a Friday afternoon is spent getting up from the desk/work base and 

talking to colleagues. This not only increases the wellbeing of employees but has 

also reduced sickness and absence rates, and increased retention and productivity. 

This is something we could practically do in Gloucestershire to support employees in 

the workplace through our Workplace Wellbeing Charter.  

Safe and Well Checks  

The seven deaths in Gloucestershire related to house fires have all been associated 

with people aged over 65 years and living on their own.  

For those people admitted to hospital following a fall, who live alone and have no 

family or friends, hospital staff will make a referral for a safe and well check to 

ensure the person’s home is safe prior to hospital discharge. These safe and well 

checks are provided by the Fire Service in Gloucestershire.  

Admission to hospital is often the first opportunity for the hospital and Fire Service to 

realise a person is isolated, lonely or not coping at home. A formal referral is then 

made by the Fire Service to arrange support for the older person.  

Page 51



18 
 

By closer collaboration with primary care, including GP practices, these risk factors 

for an older person could be identified much earlier and the Fire Service could 

undertake safe and well checks for those people with a significant frailty and 

loneliness and social isolation score.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Benefit of animals  

Animal based interventions are reported to show a significant reduction in loneliness 

scores, particularly for older people with cognitive impairment which involves at least 

weekly intervention by a dog for 6 weeks.  

This deep dive did not review the use of animal therapy amongst older people, 

including care homes but could be undertaken at some point in the future.  

Digital interventions 

The use of weekly five minute video conferencing with family members for three 

months in long term care facilities is also shown to reduce loneliness scores three 

months post intervention.  

Needs assessments have been produced in Section 2 of this report showing those 

parts of Gloucestershire without access to mobile phones which has internet use.  

Neighbourhood activities  

Ageing Well Torbay (2017) (6) evaluation examined the role of neighbourhood 

activities on loneliness reductions. Findings showed loneliness was reduced through 

involvement in a variety of neighbourhood projects. Reconnecting people was 

considered to be the most visible change brought about by the project. Social groups 

and activities were identified as a primary mechanism in assisting isolated older 

people in making new connections.  

Case Study – Interplay, Stroud  

Interplay is a welcoming intergeneration project where parents with babies and pre-

school children meet on a weekly basis with older people to talk over tea and coffee. 

The group is run by the small proceeds it makes from coffee and food sales within the 

group.  

The group started in December 2019 by a mother of young children who saw an 

opportunity for people to meet in a place which wasn’t a coffee shop and involved 

significant amounts of money on coffee, particularly for those on a restricted budget.  

On talking to several older people who regularly attend the group they clearly 

articulated that they didn’t want to necessarily spend their days with other older 

people.   

 

Page 52



19 
 

Leicester Ageing Together examined a range of interventions and impact on 

loneliness, including ‘Singing for the Brain’, Befriending & Mentoring, Men in Sheds, 

Social Prescribing and Intergenerational projects. One-on-one interventions did not 

show a significant effect on loneliness. However, group interventions did show 

significant changes in isolations scores.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Shared meals 

Shared meals can bring together independent single people to eat as a group at 

tables reserved at various restaurants and pubs, with each table hosted by a 

volunteer. Many shared tables have led to the development of new friendships. The 

intimate nature of sitting together as a group of 6 to 8 people was identified as much 

more rewarding than large coffee mornings.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case Study – Ageing Well, Gloucester  

Ageing Well is a group of older people in Gloucester City. They meet on a weekly 

basis in community venues, and with the support of an Age UK volunteer organise 

talks and presentations that are relevant to their own life experiences.  

One example of an activity the group arranged included the making on bread whilst 

discussing the very difficult issue of planning for when you die.  

The group support each other, sharing their experiences and ideas, many of whom live 

alone and are frail.    

 

Case Study – Homeshare Gloucester 

This is project offers a full support service for an older people looking to share their 

home with a younger person. The expectation is that the younger person will share 

meals with the older person several times a week.  

The intention of this project is to reduce loneliness and isolation, maintain 

independence and enable older people to stay in their own home. 

Age UK support this project to help with matching potential people who are seeking to 

rent with an older person, agreeing sharing process and the support to be provided.  

Page 53



20 
 

What does success look like in tackling social isolation and loneliness?  

In summary, there are a number of mediating factors are central to the development 

of successful loneliness interventions and include: 

 The development of companionship 

 Support meaningful relationships  

 Tailoring interventions to the needs of those for whom interventions are 

designed 

Emphasis should be placed on the need to promote the development of meaningful 

relationships, rather than ‘loneliness’ interventions which can be both unappealing 

and stigmatising.  

We also know there are number of predictable life events that can result in social 

isolation and loneliness whereby measures could be put in place to support children, 

young people, adults and older people through these transition points.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



21 
 

4. Our Approach  

Earlier in this document, examples have been given on local, national and 

international research and projects to demonstrate what works well to combat social 

isolation and loneliness. To get a perspective on the approach needed for 

Gloucestershire residents, semi-structured interviews were undertaken with people 

who had lived experiences. Statutory, voluntary and community organisations in 

Gloucestershire were also asked the same questions on social isolation and 

loneliness.  

Each interviewee or group was asked 4 questions: 

1. Can you describe your area of work and its connection to social isolation and 

loneliness (question for professionals and organisations only) 

 

2. What do you see are some of the barriers in the area you work/live to tackling 

social isolation and loneliness?  

 

3. Can you give some examples of what works well in tackling social isolation and 

loneliness (Children, working age, older people)?  

 

4. What else do you think we need to do to address social isolation and loneliness 

(Children, working age, older people) 

The following groups and organisations took part in the interview process. Most 

interviews were on a 1:1 basis or held in very small groups of no more than 4 people.  

 Age UK, Gloucestershire 

 Ageing Well Group, Gloucester City 

 Barnwood Trust  

 Caring for Communities and People (CCP)  

 Cheltenham District Council  

 Cotswold District Council  

 Fire Service  

 Forest of Dean District Council 

 Gloucester City Council  

 Interplay, Stroud (intergeneration project) 

 Safer Gloucestershire Board  

 Salvation Army Play Parent and Toddler Group, Gloucester  

 Stroud District Council  

 Tewkesbury District Council 
 

 

 

 

Page 55



22 
 

Key themes from the deep dive  

The findings and key themes from the semi-structured interviews have been grouped 

into 7 areas:  

Personal Preference  

 Some people don’t like their own company  

 Need to have a ‘sense of purpose’. Loneliness is not an individual failing  

 Need a structure to the week  

 Need to create opportunities to network 

 Older people don’t want to spend time with other older people. Value inter-

generational interaction  

 Face-to-face support is best  

 Finding friends is hard. Door knocking is a ‘no’ (older person) 

 The atmosphere of parent and young children groups is important. It needs to 

be welcoming. Some groups are intimidating  

 People need to go and find things for themselves… 

 ‘Would find buddying intimidating’ 

Family, Friends and Partners  

 People having children later in life, then going back to work, difficult to have a 

peer group  

 Family living nearby makes a big difference  

 People feel lucky when they have a husband/wife/partner 

 People relying or depending on you make you come out  

 Hit retirement and you haven’t formed any social circles  

Vulnerable people  

 Children with a disability…’I worry about whether his friends are genuine’ 

  ‘Sometimes you need encouragement and hand holding to join a group’ (A 

mum with previous mental health issues, a young child and a baby with a 

disability) 

Rurality and getting to know your neighbours  

 When you live in a rural community, you need to get to know each other  

 Need to make people aware and look out for others. We don’t know our 

neighbours now 

 Need to get the interaction  

 Loneliness and social isolation needs to be everyone’s business within a 

community 

 Get to know your neighbour  

 Creating community events  

Page 56



23 
 

Transport  

 Good transport is a factor to combat loneliness and social isolation  

Environment  

 Focus on prevention for frail over 65 years olds and their fire risk   

 Use resources around us i.e. spaces and benches  

 Active design for new housing developments 

Sustainable Communities  

 Focus on the positives. Look at what a person has, not what they haven’t 

got… 

 Noticing the little things about people, and what they are good at  

 Create a society which demands what older people have to give  

 Build links with parish councils, helps to get closer to communities  

 When someone new moves into the street provide a ‘welcome pack’ 

 Collaboration between private & public sector and volunteering opportunities 

for those at risk of social isolation & loneliness  

 Create a ‘Gift Circle’ to build a community 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



24 
 

5. Key Priorities  

 

Taking into account the evidence from local, national, international evidence and the 

key themes from the local deep dive, below is a summary of the suggested actions 

we could take as a Health and Wellbeing Board to provide a more targeted 

approach across the county and meet gaps in current service provision. Some 

actions are very practical ones and others are an approach we could take.  

This is not an exhaustive list and would welcome the Health and Wellbeing Board’s 

thoughts and ideas on what else we can do to address social isolation and 

loneliness.  

Theme  
 

Actions Required  

Personal Preference  Provide person centred and tailored loneliness interventions 
which are designed for the specific needs of an individual or 
targeted population in terms of socio-demographic, 
vulnerability or types of loneliness 
 

Personal Preference  Create more opportunities to offer more inter-generational 
interactions across the county, where appropriate  
 

Personal Preference As a county we need to take opportunities to promote the 
development of meaningful relationships using people 
strengths, skills and experiences, rather than ‘loneliness’ 
interventions which can be both unappealing and stigmatising 
 

Family, Friends and 
Partners 

Support vulnerable and older people to make use of 
technology to regularly interact with friends and family who 
don’t live nearby through the use of Facetime or Skype  
 

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours 
 
Sustainable 
communities 

Start building connections with our neighbours. Start by talking 
with our neighbours, to learn their names, find out their skills, 
interests and needs. Create a directory to share skills and 
resources.  
 
For those more developed communities, they could look to 
create a gift circle where a community both gives and receives 
skills and resources in an organised way.  
 

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours 
 
Sustainable 
communities 
 

Collaborate with employers using their volunteering schemes 
to support and empower people to engage with their local 
community. 

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours 
 

Gloucestershire could look to introduce National Neighbours 
Day on a set day of the year whereby communities come 
together in an organised and celebratory way  

Page 58



25 
 

Sustainable 
communities  
 

 

Transport Start building connections with our neighbours. Create a 
directory of regular journeys i.e. commuters taking people who 
don’t drive into towns, cities, places of interest, community 
groups, etc.  
 

Environment 
 

Focus on the prevention for frail over 65 years olds and their 
fire risk   
 

Environment Use resources around us i.e. spaces and benches.  
 
Each statutory partner could commission ‘talking benches’ 
across the county in strategic locations which optimise people 
to sit down and talk. The talking benches would include a 
plaque to raise awareness of combating social isolation and 
loneliness 
 

Environment To ensure all new housing developments include areas which 
enable communities to come together i.e. community garden, 
walks, benches as well as promoting active travel i.e. walking 
and cycling  
 

 

 

6. Recommendation and Next Steps  

 

The Enabling Active Communities Group is asked to comment on this draft Social 

Isolation and Loneliness Deep Dive.  

 

The Enabling Active Communities Group are specifically asked: 

 

 Does this deep dive cover the key issues regarding social isolation and 

loneliness?  

 What is missing from this deep dive?   

 Are there any other groups, communities or areas of focus that the EAC 

would like to include in this deep dive?  

 Would the EAC like to see a strategy or action plan on social isolation and 

loneliness that could form part of the HWB Strategy?  

 What are the next steps the EAC would like to see happen regarding social 

isolation and loneliness?  

 

 

 

 

Page 59



26 
 

Thank you 

 

A wide range of individuals, community groups and organisations within 

Gloucestershire have helped to shape this strategy on social isolation and 

loneliness. We would like to thank those below who gave their time and insights  

 

 

Age UK, Gloucestershire 

Ageing Well Group, Gloucester City 

Barnwood Trust  

Caring for Communities and People (CCP)  

Cheltenham District Counctil  

Cotswold District Council  

Fire Service  

Forest of Dean District Council 

Gloucester City Council  

Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group  

Interplay, Stroud  

Safer Gloucestershire Board  

Salvation Army Play Parent and Toddler Group, Gloucester  

Stroud District Council  

Tewkesbury District Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



27 
 

 

References  

 

(1) A connected society: A strategy for tackling loneliness – laying the 

foundations for change (October 2018) 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-connected-society-a-strategy-

for-tackling-loneliness 

 

(2) Loneliness and Social Isolation as Risk Factors for Mortality: A Meta-Analytic 

Review. Holt-Lunstad at al (2015) 

 

(3) Toward a Social Psychology of Loneliness: Daniel Perlman and Letitia Anne 

Peplau (1981) 

 

(4) Loneliness - What characteristics and circumstances are associated with 

feeling lonely? (April 2017) 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/lon

elinesswhatcharacteristicsandcircumstancesareassociatedwithfeelinglonely/2

018-04-10  

 

(5) The NHS Long Term Plan, NHS England (2019) www.longtermplan.nhs.uk 

 

(6) Ageing Well Torbay (2017) https://ageingwelltorbay.com/about/ 

 

(7) An overview of review: the effectiveness of interventions to address loneliness 

at all stages of the life-course (October 2018) www.whatworkswellbeing.org 

Community   

 

(8) Exploring loneliness in children, Great Britain: 2018 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/exp

loringlonelinessinchildrengreatbritain/2018 

 

(9) Little Book of Lykke – The Danish search for the world’s happiest people, 

Happiness Research Institute, Copenhagen 2017  

 

(10) Wellbeing Survey (July 2017) Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-connected-society-a-strategy-for-tackling-loneliness
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-connected-society-a-strategy-for-tackling-loneliness
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/lonelinesswhatcharacteristicsandcircumstancesareassociatedwithfeelinglonely/2018-04-10
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/lonelinesswhatcharacteristicsandcircumstancesareassociatedwithfeelinglonely/2018-04-10
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/lonelinesswhatcharacteristicsandcircumstancesareassociatedwithfeelinglonely/2018-04-10
http://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://ageingwelltorbay.com/about/
http://www.whatworkswellbeing.org/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/exploringlonelinessinchildrengreatbritain/2018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/exploringlonelinessinchildrengreatbritain/2018


28 
 

 

 

Page 62



1

DRAFT Strategic Statement of Intent: Social Isolation and Loneliness – September 2019 

1. Vision  

Gloucestershire recognises that everyone feels lonely from time to time. But when people are always lonely they are likely to suffer 
significant ill health and other negative consequences. 

On recognition of this important issue, Gloucestershire’s Health and Health Being Board (HWB) requested a ‘deep dive’ on social 
isolation and loneliness. This deep dive gave an opportunity to look in detail at the factors affecting people’s experiences and 
service’s perceptions on social isolation and loneliness, and our approach to addressing this important area.

2. Background 

In May 2019, the HWB reviewed and commented on the draft Deep Dive on Social Isolation and Loneliness. Their comments and 
suggestions have been incorporated into a final draft, which is available. The final draft of the deep dive will be presented to Safer 
Gloucestershire Board and Enabling Active Communities Group in October 2019 for ratification.

A Strategic Statement of Intent was requested by the HWB which sets out the key objectives, actions to be taken, by when, with 
their expected outcomes. 

3. Context 

The relationships we have with our friends, family, neighbours and colleagues are, for many of us, the most important things in our 
lives. There is a strong link between having meaningful social connections and living a healthy and fulfilled life. We also know that 

P
age 63



2

having more connected communities means a more thriving, productive society, in which we can all contribute and live fulfilling 
lives. 

Loneliness and isolation is not the same thing. Social isolation is defined as ‘an objective state determined by the quantity of social 
relationships and contacts between individuals, across groups and communities.’ 

Loneliness can be defined as ‘a subjective state based on a person’s emotional perception of the number and/or quality of social 
connections they need compared to what is currently being experienced’. Therefore, it is possible for an individual to be socially 
isolated without feeling lonely, or conversely feel lonely without being socially isolated.

Across the county, we know that loneliness can affect anyone – from teenagers and young adults to new parents, carers, and the 
recently bereaved, from students starting university to older people and those with disabilities, from those moving to a new area of 
the country to refugees.

4. Our Strategic Approach 

Social isolation and loneliness is one of the seven priorities within our Health & Wellbeing Strategy published in August 2019. 

The Enabling Activity Communities Group and Safer Gloucestershire Board on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing Board have 
started to open up a conversation on loneliness and social isolation, to raise awareness of its impacts and describe practically what 
we can do as a county to improve our overall wellbeing. Where possible the priorities use a PLACE based approach, and build on 
the work already being undertaken by each of the District Councils to Strengthen Local Communities.

5. What we know about our population 

The Gloucestershire Community Wellbeing Survey in 2017 identified that 38% of all respondents feel lonely at times, and loneliness 
is highest in those with a mental health issue, a long term illness and/or a learning disability. Those with a car as their main form of 
transport consider themselves less lonely’. Please note, this was based on a small sample of 606 respondents.

P
age 64



3

We also know the following areas have a higher proportion of younger and older people with no or little access to the internet. 
Through the deep dive, lack of internet access has been identified as a gap for people to be engaged with what is happening with 
their friends, family or in their community. These areas are:

 Forest of Dean, North and South Cotswold, and Tewkesbury District 

6. Priorities

Below is a summary of the themes and priorities identified within the deep dive into social isolation and loneliness.

Theme Priorities 

Personal Preference Provide person centred and tailored loneliness interventions which are designed for the specific needs of 
an individual or targeted population in terms of socio-demographic, vulnerability or types of loneliness

Personal Preference Create more opportunities to offer more inter-generational interactions across the county, where 
appropriate 

Personal Preference As a county we need to take opportunities to promote the development of meaningful relationships using 
people strengths, skills and experiences, rather than ‘loneliness’ interventions which can be both 
unappealing and stigmatising

Family, Friends and 
Partners

Support vulnerable and older people to make use of technology to regularly interact with friends and 
family who don’t live nearby through the use of Facetime or Skype 

Family, Friends, 
Partners and 
Communities 

Seek opportunities for family, friends and partners to help combat social isolation and loneliness. In the 
link are a few examples of what could be achieved to help to inspire others to take positive action in their 
lives and in their communities:
https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/what-we-do/stories/.

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours

Start building connections with our neighbours. Start by talking with our neighbours, to learn their names, 
find out their skills, interests and needs. Create a directory to share skills and resources. 

P
age 65

https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/what-we-do/stories/


4

Sustainable 
communities

For those more developed communities, they could look to create a gift circle where a community both 
gives and receives skills and resources in an organised way. 

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours
Sustainable 
communities

Collaborate with employers using their volunteering schemes to support and empower people to engage 
with their local community.

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours

Sustainable 
communities 

Gloucestershire could look to introduce National Neighbours Day on a set day of the year whereby 
communities come together in an organised and celebratory way 

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours

Sustainable 
communities 

For each statutory, community and voluntary organisation in Gloucestershire to make a pledge in 
recognition of loneliness across our county and helping people to maintain or make new friendships.

 

Transport Start building connections with our neighbours. Create a directory of regular journeys i.e. commuters 
taking people who don’t drive into towns, cities, places of interest, community groups, etc. 

Environment Focus on the prevention for frail over 65 years olds and their fire risk  

Environment Use resources around us i.e. spaces and benches. Some charitable organisations have grants available 
for small community projects. For example https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/grants/grants-for-organisations/.

Each statutory partner could commission ‘talking benches’ across the county in strategic locations which 
optimise people to sit down and talk. The talking benches would include a plaque to raise awareness of 
combating social isolation and loneliness

Environment To ensure all new housing developments include areas which enable communities to come together i.e. 
community garden, walks, benches as well as promoting active travel i.e. walking and cycling 

P
age 66

https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/grants/grants-for-organisations/


5

7. Key Objective

Commitment Call for action Milestone Outcome

To create a county 
where loneliness 
and social 
isolation are 
recognised openly 
as something likely 
to affect us all and 
where the 
importance of 
Gloucestershire’s 
social 
infrastructure to 
grow connectivity 
and community 
cohesion is 
understood and 
acted upon

Phase 1 
For statutory, community, 
voluntary and private sector 
organisations to make a 
pledge in recognition of social 
isolation and loneliness across 
our county. 

A list of example but practical 
pledges will be provided to 
organisation and could include:

 Get to know your 
neighbour 

 Have a conversation in 
the workplace about 
social isolation and 
loneliness 

 Spend time to talk to 
someone at work, in 
your community you 
have never spoken to 
before 

 Get involved in an event 
 District Councils to 

support ‘play streets’ 
and the closure of roads 

September 2020

December 2020

Increased awareness of social 
isolation and loneliness 

Create opportunities to 
collaborate across 
organisations and communities 

Reduce likelihood of social 
isolation and loneliness across 
all age groups 

Strengthen local communities 

P
age 67



6

on certain days at a 
week end 

For the Health and Wellbeing 
Board to endorse a 
Gloucestershire Neighbours 
Day. This could take the form 
of planned events or simply 
getting to know your 
neighbour. 

To create a county 
where loneliness 
and social 
isolation are 
recognised openly 
as something likely 
to affect us all and 
where the 
importance of 
Gloucestershire’s 
social 
infrastructure to 
grow connectivity 

Phase 2 
Create opportunities for 
children and young people to 
support vulnerable and older 
people to make use of 
technology to regularly interact 
with friends and family who 
don’t live nearby through the 
use of Facetime or Skype

Using examples of what works 
well in parts of the county i.e. 
Stroud Interplay to encourage 
the creation and development 
of more intergenerational 
projects i.e. drop ins and 
coffee mornings.

December 2020 

March 2021 

Enable people who live 
remotely and unable to travel 
to maintain friendships and 
links with family 

Support Gloucestershire to 
become a digital enabled 
county 

Reduce social isolation and 
loneliness in children, young, 
vulnerable and older people 
across the county 

P
age 68



7

and community 
cohesion is 
understood and 
acted upon

To create a county 
where loneliness 
and social 
isolation are 
recognised openly 
as something likely 
to affect us all and 
where the 
importance of 
Gloucestershire’s 
social 
infrastructure to 
grow connectivity 
and community 
cohesion is 
understood and 
acted upon

Phase 3
To make best use of the 
resources around us i.e. 
community spaces and 
benches. Work with charitable 
organisations and Town and 
Parish Councils who have 
grants available for small 
community projects. 

Work with arts and culture to 
look creatively at the use of 
community spaces and the 
successful introduction of any 
new initiatives 

To ensure all new housing 
developments include areas 
which enable communities to 
come together i.e. community 
garden, walks, benches as well 
as promoting active travel i.e. 
walking and cycling

March 2025

March 2025

March 2030

Create opportunities for people 
to meet and talk and for 
communities to come together

Promote use of arts and 
culture in helping to reduce 
social isolation and loneliness 

Reduce social isolation and 
loneliness  

P
age 69



8

8. Key enablers

In summary, this Strategic Statement of Intent confirms that we do not need a ‘loneliness response’ but a community one that offers 
opportunities for the creation and development of meaningful relationships.  Therefore the critical success factors will be dependent 
upon:

 The engagement of people, neighbours and communities in recognising social isolation and loneliness and wanting to make 
a difference 

 The level of support statutory, community, voluntary and private sector organisations are able to provide to create 
opportunities for people to interact with each other 

 Resources available in both staff resource and monetary terms to implement the key objective within this report 

P
age 70



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report title HWB Priority: Best Start in Life – Update Report

Item for decision or 
information?

Information and Decision

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health

Author Andy Dempsey, Director of Partnerships and Strategy (HWB 
Lead for Best Start in Life)

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council Children’s Services

1.0 At its meeting of 21 July, the Health and Wellbeing Board requested an update on 
progress against the seven priorities set out in the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  
The purpose of this report is to update the Health and Wellbeing Board on progress 
with the priority – Best Start in Life. 

2.0  The focus on early year’s outcomes and supporting children to have the best start in 
life acknowledged that Gloucestershire's performance needed to improve, particularly 
for the most vulnerable. It was also recognised that a whole system - cross sector 
approach would be needed in order to achieve significant change.  A key measure in 
this respect is the percentage of children achieving a Good Level of Development 
(GLD) at the end of Reception year.   In 2018-19 Gloucestershire’s performance was 
slightly above the national benchmark, having improved 2.7% over 2017-18 (source: 
PHE Fingertips). However, inequalities in outcomes by deprivation and gender 
remain and the aim is to improve overall performance and reduce inequalities, 
bringing these in line with our nearest statistical neighbours.

3.0 There is currently a working group, drawn from a wide range of agencies working 
within the early year’s sector.  Its focus was initially around school readiness but has 
necessarily broadened over time to explore the wider range of services and 
influencing factors which can impact upon early outcomes for children.

4.0 The Improving Early Outcomes for Children Working Group is chaired by Beth 
Bennett-Britton (Public Health Consultant) and, prior to lockdown, was meeting on a 
quarterly basis. The group has worked effectively to share knowledge and good 
practice both within statutory services and with other external stakeholders such as 
the NSPCC. To date it has concentrated on the following areas:

 Better awareness across agencies of what is happening in Gloucestershire to 
improve early outcomes for children, identifying links and shared working 
opportunities where appropriate

 Better understanding of the EYFSP data and working with Reception teachers to 
improve the consistency of the data against the national benchmark to enable a 
more accurate picture of the Good Level of development (GLD) data in 
Gloucestershire to inform actions where required. 

 Developing a shared understanding (vision) for Reception Ready and Y1 Ready 
Children, Ready Families and Ready Settings and Schools and implementing 
actions to move towards the desired end state.  

Page 71

Agenda Item 12



 Agreeing and considering priority opportunities for improvement, which are:

• Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)
• Parenting interventions and support
• Smoother transitions and better integration including the Integrated 2-2.5 

year check 
• Dads – to include paternal mental health, male role models and use of 

partner friendly language
continued work to support settings and parents to support child development 
in readiness for school and beyond

5.0 Work streams that have run within the scope of the group include:

 Development of leaflets for families and professionals to facilitate a shared 
understanding of what we mean by ‘school readiness’ and how families can 
prepare their children for school.

 Improving the transition process from Early Years (EY) to statutory education.

 Development of an EYFS Quality and Improvement Advisor post in the EY team 
to focus on: 1) schools with lower than average numbers of pupils with a GLD at 
the end of reception and 2) GLD inequality gaps.

 Investigate the reasons behind the high/increasing number of requests for 
statutory assessments and plans for young children and the high/increasing 
number of exclusions for early years and primary aged children in order to 
address and improve the situation.

 Two DfE funded projects: 

- The Early Outcomes (EO) Project to identify and support children in 
Gloucester City who are at risk of or display early signs of atypical language 
development from the ante-natal period onwards, particularly 0-30 months, 
in order to intervene at the earliest opportunity to minimise the achievement 
gap by age.

- The Professional Development Programme to provide access to literacy, 
language and numeracy training for selected EY practitioners to enable 
them to cascade this training within their settings.  Practitioners in 
Gloucester, Cheltenham and FoD were selected to receive this training.

 Development of a pathway to identify and address early language and 
communications difficulties.

 Participation in the EYFS National Research Initiative. GCC’s membership of this 
initiative enables free online resources to be offered to EY practitioners. Schools 
which have pupil cohorts with known vulnerabilities are targeted but the offer is 
open to all schools with reception classes.

Page 72

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2092781/gcc_2655-school-readiness-leaflet-families_aw.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2092803/gcc_2655-school-readiness-leaflet-professionals_dev6-final.pdf


 Provision of Reducing Parental Conflict Training for professionals.

 Work to increase the take up of childcare  provision for eligible 2 year olds 

6.0 Unfortunately the Improving Early Outcomes for Children Working Group has not 
been able to meet since lockdown due to the participation of key members in local 
Covid response arrangements and its impact on the provider sector for education and 
early years.  However, a considerable body of work has been progressed, including : 

 A family leaflet was distributed in hard copy to those who have a child starting 
school this September.  It is intended that this will be repeated for next year’s 
cohort.

 A Getting Ready for School website has been set up

 The Health Visiting Team developed and ran school readiness hubs for families 
with pre-school children.

 The group have looked at the impact of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) 
on children’s wellbeing and life changes and have taken steps to ensure that 
their work is aligned with the Action for ACES programme, e.g. use of trauma 
informed approaches.

 Online ACES training has been developed and launched and early childhood 
trauma training for EY practitioners has been commissioned as part of the EO 
project (delivery of this is currently on hold).

 As part of the development of the communication pathway we have 
commissioned ECAT training for EY practitioners across the county settings 
(currently on hold)

 A transition process with good practice guidance, including content relating to 
children with additional needs, has been developed and launched. 

 The Early Outcomes project was delivered across Gloucester City. Although a 
small project that took some time to get going, the analysis showed some 
positive feedback and impact.  We are now working with a range of partners and 
agencies to roll out the delivery of the parent/baby and toddler groups across the 
county. We commissioned music providers to deliver sessions for parents and 
children aged 0-5 with a focus on using music to improve parent/child 
engagement and communication.  Further music sessions will be delivered as 
part of the county wide groups once established.

 A range of practitioner in the PEEP model of parent/child support, this helps 
practitioners to support parents to support their child’s development, particularly 
in relation to their speech, language and communication development

 The Professional Development programme is ongoing, although training is 
currently on hold due to the current pandemic.

Page 73

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/getting-ready-for-school/


 The percentage of eligible 2 year olds taking up a childcare place now matches 
the national average but remains below comparator authorities.  We developed 
and circulated postcards to eligible families, worked with EY providers, social 
care and Health Visitor teams to promote this.  We aim to plan further 
promotional events in the autumn term.

 A review of EY SEN inclusion funding has been completed and a new process 
developed to provide additional resource to support emerging needs at the 
earliest opportunity, thereby contributing to school readiness and minimising risk 
of needs escalating and continuing throughout the school years and beyond.

7.0 Working under the Child Friendly Gloucestershire (CFG) Initiative there has also 
been a sub-group which has been looking at the pre-birth to 5 years cohort. The 
membership of that group is drawn from the faith, voluntary and commercial sectors 
and also includes representatives from the Improving Early Outcomes for Children 
Working Group.  An initial discussion with both groups has evidenced support for 
merging these into a single group, working as part of the Child Friendly 
Gloucestershire Initiative.  This will ensure good cross-sector representation and 
clarity around which group is driving forward with the Best Start in Life priority for the 
Health and Wellbeing Board.

8.0 It is acknowledged that as the groups merge there will be a need to develop a 
dedicated action plan within the context of the Child Friendly County Initiative, which 
sets out a vision for all children and young people in the county.  It will also include 
the development of a quality assurance and data dashboard to ensure that the Health 
and Wellbeing Board is provided with evidence of impact as the basis for future 
service development and delivery activity.  The merged group will need support 
resources to enable it to function effectively and discussions are ongoing on how this 
can be best achieved.

Recommendations to the Board:

1.0 The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the report and agree to merge the 
Improving Early Outcomes for Children Working Group and the 0-5 years sub-group, 
that has been meeting under the auspices of the Child Friendly Gloucestershire 
Initiative, into a single multi-agency group.

Financial/Resource Implications:

 There are no direct financial implications from this report.

Andy Dempsey
Director of Partnerships and Strategy (HWB Priority Lead for Best Start in Life)
10 September 2020

Page 74



1

Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

DRAFT 

Report Title Housing and Health

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Decision and information

Sponsor Anne Brinkhoff, Corporate Director, Gloucester City Council

Author Jennifer Taylor, Lead Commissioner (Public Health), 
Gloucestershire County Council and Anne Brinkhoff, Corporate 
Director, Gloucester City Council

Organisation On behalf of Gloucestershire Strategic Directors Group

Key Issues:  
 Health & Wellbeing Board has agreed a proposal to focus on:

o Ensuring new housing development promotes good health and wellbeing
o Bringing existing housing stock conditions up to standard
o Providing a diverse housing offer

 Progress has been made to deliver against these, with further information on 
activity set out in this report

 Health & Wellbeing Board is asked to consider its approach and added value to 
housing and health as set out in the recommendations

Recommendations to Board: 
The Health & Wellbeing Board is asked to:
 Note the progress on the Housing & Health priority of the draft Health & Wellbeing 

Strategy and agree support for its continuation as set out in this paper
 Commit to supporting the planned actions emerging from the Health Foundation 

programme to improve housing conditions, including joining up of data and 
intelligence and development of a proposal for potential future investment

 Consider and discuss the Board’s appetite to ‘change the conversation’ with 
developers seeking to build in the county

 Consider and discuss the role of the Health & Wellbeing Board in championing 
this agenda and adding value to planned activity by setting ambitious 
expectations for healthy places and engaging in housing, potentially through a 
statement of intent as suggested in Section 3.

Financial/Resource Implications: 
Future financial investment may be required to support activity to improve housing 
stock conditions, subject to a further proposal (see main body of the paper)

Page 75

Agenda Item 13



2

Housing and Health:
A Report for the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

1. Introduction
Following prioritisation of housing and health in the draft Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy, a proposal was brought to the Health & Wellbeing Board meeting in September 
2019 on behalf of the Strategic Directors Group. This sought the Board’s approval for a 
focus on:

1. Ensuring new housing development promotes good health and wellbeing
2. Bringing existing housing stock conditions up to standard
3. Providing a diverse housing offer.

This proposal recognised that there is a great deal of activity already underway and a well 
established governance structure for the complex housing agenda in Gloucestershire. For 
example, Gloucestershire partners’ innovative decision to pool the Disabled Facilities Grant 
(DFG) in 2017 has led to a range of activity to address housing and care/health related 
needs. There is also extensive work underway to improve homelessness pathways, 
including investment by Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) in 
Somewhere Safe to Stay hubs and Navigator Team. The Health & Wellbeing Board proposal 
sought to add value to this existing activity and focus efforts on gaps that exist, rather than to 
duplicate.

Logic models were produced for the first two areas of focus (attached at Appendix A), with 
the third described as a longer term aim that links across both of the other two. Health & 
Wellbeing Board agreed the proposal and delegated responsibility for implementation to the 
Strategic Directors Group.

2. Progress to date
Since September 2019, partners have made good progress across the three areas of focus, 
as summarised in the following paragraphs.

Actions are being delivered within existing budgets. 

2.1 New housing development
A range of actions have been progressed, including:
 The draft Gloucestershire Health Impact Assessment (HIA) framework was tested on 

the draft Stroud Local Plan Review in January 2020. This was a collaborative exercise 
between Public Health and Stroud District Council planners and the output will inform the 
next iteration of the Stroud Local Plan, as well as provide learning for the roll out of the 
HIA framework in other districts

 A Planning Healthy Places Community of Practice (CoP) has been established, to 
bring together practitioners from across the system to share learning and coordinate 
activity. The first workshop in September 2019 focused on designing age- and dementia-
friendly developments and the Building with Nature benchmark. The next event will be 
hosted by Active Gloucestershire and will involve system mapping of active design

Page 76



3

 Gloucestershire County Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council hosted a workshop in 
November 2019 led by the Town & Country Planning Association (TCPA) and University 
of the West of England (UWE) to explore the use of health evidence in neighbourhood 
plans. TCPA is now producing a national framework for neighbourhood planning groups, 
based on Gloucestershire’s work

 Ongoing influence of Local Plans, e.g. the Gloucester City Plan, and strategic 
allocations, e.g. the Cyber Central Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), to ensure 
that health and wellbeing is embedded throughout. This has included making 
connections with other relevant agendas, e.g. the emerging Gloucestershire Food 
Strategy.

We intend to progress with these actions but need to be mindful of the Governments 
Planning White Paper (Planning for the future) which is currently being consulted on and 
which proposes a significant reforms of the planning system including planning policy. 

2.2 Existing housing stock conditions
In November, Gloucestershire partners identified an opportunity to engage in a national 
action research programme that would support this strand of the Health & Wellbeing Board’s 
housing and health priority. Gloucestershire was selected as one of four local authority areas 
for the wider determinants of health programme led by the Health Foundation, in 
collaboration with the Design Council, Shared Intelligence and the Leadership Centre. 

Gloucestershire’s project uses design principles and tools to ensure the existing housing 
stock in the county is fit for a healthy future.

The project team is made up of:
 Anne Brinkhoff, Corporate Director, Gloucester City Council
 Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health, Gloucestershire County Council
 Maria Hickman, Housing Renewal Manager, Stroud District Council
 Neil Penny, Health & Social Care Commissioning Manager, Gloucestershire County 

Council & Gloucestershire CCG
 Paul Stephenson, Chief Executive, Cheltenham Borough Homes
 Jennifer Taylor, Lead Commissioner (Public Health), Gloucestershire County Council
 Yvonne Welsh, Community Wellbeing (Private Sector Housing) Team Leader, 

Gloucester City Council

The collaborating partners undertook a small amount of ethnographic research with 
residents in Gloucester and Cheltenham, the findings of which informed the project team’s 
action research at two facilitated workshops during January and February. These workshops 
enabled the team to define the actions needed to address this strand.

The project team has focused on addressing excess cold and damp as a key determinant of 
physical and mental health. It has recognised that there are already interventions in place, 
e.g. the Warm & Well service, but that to achieve a step change in improvement, partners 
would need to better understand where our efforts could have their greatest impact, e.g. in 
owner occupied properties or by engaging differently with tenants.

Page 77



4

As a result of the project, a number of workstreams are now in development:
 Joining together data and insight, including:

o Collaboration to join up health, social care and housing data and use this more 
proactively to target intervention and utilise a wider range of levers for change

o The possibility of commissioning a housing conditions survey. It has been ten 
years since the last survey and this project has identified a need for improved 
intelligence to support better targeting of interventions. However, this requires 
significant investment and the project team is keen to explore options to ensure any 
survey adds value to existing data and intelligence

o Gloucester City Council is piloting a ‘journaling’ approach to better understand the 
qualitative impact of cold and damp on the health and wellbeing of residents. This 
should allow officers to consider not only enforcement options and interventions but 
also strengths-based and community approaches

 Leadership development across the strategic partnerships involved in housing, to 
ensure an aligned and ambitious approach to housing and health, through an initial 
workshop on 13th March

 Building links between housing and health, e.g. through Gloucester Integrated 
Locality Partnership (ILP), which has prioritised respiratory disease, and alignment with 
the Community Wellbeing teams and social prescribing link workers, to improve referrals 
to help with housing conditions and the development of creative solutions.

This action has stalled over the last six months as partners have focused on response and 
recovery of the Covid pandemic; however it is envisaged that activities will re-commence in 
the autumn. 

2.3 A diverse housing offer
In the initial proposal to the Health & Wellbeing Board, the provision of a diverse housing 
offer was described as a longer term aim, which cuts across both new and existing housing 
stock and neighbourhoods. However, there is activity taking place, particularly under the 
Better Care Fund Housing, Health and Care initiatives, which contribute to the overall aim of 
a diverse housing offer. 

This current activity includes:
 Homeshare – homesharing enables an older person to share their house with a younger 

person in return for ten hours of support a week. This helps the older person remain in 
their own home and also reduces loneliness and isolation for both parties. A Homeshare 
scheme has been set up in Gloucestershire, run by Age UK with support from the CCG

 Park Homes Improvement Programme – since April 2019, contractors have been 
appointed to work in the county and offer insulation to park home residents. As well as a 
reduction of up to 50% in heating bills, the improvements are expected to reduce damp 
and condensation, improve the appearance of the property and reduce the carbon 
footprint

 Frailty Housing Officer – this post has been in place for over a year and has delivered 
positive outcomes, e.g. a woman who worked with the officer following a stroke and was 
supported out of residential care, in to extra care housing giving her greater 
independence.

Page 78



5

3. Next Steps and Health & Wellbeing Board Role
Following the agreement by the Board of the three strands of the housing and health priority, 
further work has been taking place to better define the action needed, as set out in this 
paper. This work has identified a number of next steps, which will continue to be developed 
into clear actions and milestones by partners, reporting to the Strategic Directors group.

However, as a Health & Wellbeing Strategy priority, the Board has a leadership role in this 
that champions the agenda, adds value to planned activity and collaborates to unlock 
barriers.

Given the wide range of activity already underway, it is suggested that the Health & 
Wellbeing Board makes a clear statement of intent for healthier housing stock and 
neighbourhoods – both new and existing – and uses its considerable collective influence to 
effect change where this requires additional action. There is a direct link between the quality 
of housing and health inequality. The recent experience of a national lockdown has 
emphasized the health inequalities brought about by the type and quality of accommodation 
people live in. 

For example, a key priority identified through the work to date – and referred to at the 
September 2019 Health & Wellbeing Board meeting – is the engagement of developers in 
delivering on aspirations for healthier places. This could build on the Barriers to 
Development project led by the GFirst Construction & Infrastructure business group but 
would require a position to be taken by the Board on its appetite to engage differently. 
Similarly, the Board could consider how the Integrated Care System’s place based approach 
can support this agenda, e.g. through Integrated Locality Partnership discussions.

The Health & Wellbeing Board may also wish to consider its role in supporting a step change 
in action to improve existing housing stock conditions. In particular, this might include 
helping to ‘unlock’ potential barriers to joining up data and intelligence and consideration of 
future proposals for investment in a housing conditions survey or alternative approach.

It is proposed to delegate oversight of this priority to the Strategic Housing Partnership which 
includes Strategic Directors from each of the six Districts, the lead Commissioners from 
Health and Adult Social Care, representatives from the RP sector and lead professionals for 
core housing disciplines. Terms of Reference are attached to this report.

4. Recommendations
The Health & Wellbeing Board is asked to:
 Note the progress on the Housing & Health priority of the draft Health & Wellbeing 

Strategy and agree support for its continuation as set out in this paper
 Commit to supporting the planned actions emerging from the Health Foundation 

programme to improve housing conditions, including joining up of data and intelligence 
and development of a proposal for potential future investment

 Consider and discuss the Board’s appetite to ‘change the conversation’ with developers 
seeking to build in the county

Page 79



6

 Consider and discuss the role of the Health & Wellbeing Board in championing this 
agenda and adding value to planned activity by setting ambitious expectations for 
healthy places and engaging in housing, potentially through a statement of intent as 
suggested in Section 3.

Page 80



7

Appendix A – Logic Models

Inputs

Personnel 
(Commissioners, 

Market Providers, 
in-house teams)

Funding (Better 
Care Fund, 

Commissioning 
Budgets) 

Equipment 
(adaptations, 

assistive 
technologies)

Objectives Activities (in the system, 
organisations, ILPs, CPGs, 

communities))

Outputs 
(deliverables)

Outcomes (results) Impact

Better health and 
wellbeing across 
communities

Reduced health 
inequalities

 

Make sure that existing 
housing stock in the 

county is of a standard 
that does not negatively 

impact on people’s 
health. In particular this 

relates to the 
improvement of energy 
efficiency, the reduction 

of health & safety 
hazards, the reduction 

of overcrowding and the 
right adaptations and 
provision of adaptive 

technologies for 
households in need. 

Improve the joining up of 
data and intelligence to 
better inform targeting and 
decision making. This may 
include commissioning a 
robust private sector 
housing stock condition 
survey 

Maintain and scale up the 
Warm and Well Partnership 

Data and analysis to 
understand stock condition 
and variations across the 
County.  Identified 
priorities for investment 
and resource allocation

Safer homes with fewer 
risks of falls. Reduced 
hospital admissions. 
Reduced delays in hospital 
discharge. Increased 
independent living

Reduced overcrowding. 
Improvement in 
educational attainments, 
family relationships and 
community

Provision of energy advice. 
Home improvements
Increased public awareness 
around energy issues

Warmer, more energy efficient 
homes

Reduced fuel poverty

Cohesion  

Vision and ambition: We want to ensure health and wellbeing are promoted through improvements in the quality, availability, affordability, suitability and 
sustainability of current and future homes and neighbourhoods

Enablers
H&WB influence and leadership Warm and Well Partnership and activity Private Sector Housing Officer Group 

P
age 81



8

Inputs

Capacity and 
technical advice 

from Public 
Health team

Capacity and 
skills of local 

planning 
authority teams

National and 
local guidance 

and evidence on 
planning and 

health

Objectives Activities (in the system, 
organisations, ILPs, CPGs, 

communities))

Outputs 
(deliverables)

Outcomes (results) Impact

Better health and 
wellbeing across 
communities

Reduced health 
inequalities

 

Make sure that new 
homes and estates are 
designed and built in a 

way that promotes 
health and wellbeing 

and minimises negative 
impacts

Ensure that proposals 
for economic growth 

aim at inclusive growth 
to address health 

inequalities, e.g. driven 
by the current 

imbalance of wages : 
house prices

Encourage and support LPAs to 
create ambitious planning 
policy frameworks and health 
impact assessment tools for 
the design of homes and 
neighbourhoods

Support and train planners 
and Planning Committees 
to recognise and expect 
design that promotes 
wellbeing and health

Identify and showcase beacon 
developments across the 
County in order to create a 
shift in expectations with 
residents, planning authorities 
and developers

Local planning policy, e.g. 
Local Plans, Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD)

Health Impact Assessment 
methodology

Homes and neighbourhoods 
have a positive rather than 
negative impact on health and 
wellbeing

CPD offer for planners and 
planning committees
Guidance on what ‘good’ 
looks like
Signposting to other 
sources of data and info

Homes and 
neighbourhoods support 
residents to live healthier 
lifestyles

Examples of good practice in 
‘what works’ in developing 
healthy neighbourhoods

Clear standards / expectations 
for healthy homes and 
neighbourhoods

Vision and ambition: We want to ensure health and wellbeing are promoted through improvements in the quality, availability, affordability, suitability and 
sustainability of current and future homes and neighbourhoods

Enablers
Building with Nature benchmark H&WB influence and leadership National Planning Policy Framework

P
age 82



1 
 

 
 
 

Gloucestershire Strategic Housing 
Partnership 

 
Terms of Reference  (July 2020) 

 
 

1. Background and rationale 
 
The right homes in the right areas enable people to live healthy and happy lives, build 
strong, inclusive communities and drive growth in ways that benefit all and prevent public 
service challenges and costs. For example, providing the right home environment is a key 
enabler for people to live independently in their own homes for longer or enable timely 
hospital discharges, reducing costs for hospital care.  
 
There is a national housing crisis and this is reflected in Gloucestershire with spiralling 
housing prices that are forcing difficult choices on families, distorting places and hampering 
growth.  
 
The role of public services in the Housing arena is multi-facetted, with key elements being: 
planning the right numbers and types of new homes to meet expected demand within 
society, working to enable affordable homes to be built preventing and dealing with 
homelessness and ensuring the private rented sector is offering appropriate home 
environments. A good home is often seen as the corner stone of a healthy and successful 
life and as such there is strong causal links between many public services including 
Education, Health, Adult Social Care and Criminal Justice. It is thus crucial that all public 
sector organisations understand these links and work together to tackle the financial and 
service impacts of housing issues  
 
These Terms of Reference set out our shared commitment to coordinated and joint action 
ensuring better outcomes in a cost-effective way.  
 
2. Overarching purpose of the Partnership 
 

• To provide strategic leadership for Housing and Homelessness within the county, 
including horizon scanning to identify future risks and opportunities, awareness 
raising, advocacy and sharing of information and good practice.  

• To act as the strategic voice for Housing and Homelessness within the county and a 
one-point contact for key strategic partnerships, including the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and the Local Enterprise Partnership and within the context of the county’s 
ambitions for Devolution and Public Service Reform.  

• Respond to, shape and influence national housing policy. 

• Through challenge, information exchange and better alignment, to improve the 
practice and cost effectiveness of our constituent members.  

Page 83



2 
 

• To influence and create consensus between partners but not at the expense of 
stifling innovation or implementing solutions that enable added value for the system 
as a whole  

• To effectively resolve barriers and blockages around the Better Care Fund and all 
other future areas of common interest.  

 
 
3. Key Objectives  
 
Providing a strategic overview  

• Lead, drive and influence the Gloucestershire strategies and strategic plans which 
relate to housing, housing related support needs, health and wellbeing outcomes and 
economic growth  

• Disseminating information and knowledge to create a strong voice locally, regionally 
and nationally, including the support to elected members as housing champions  

• Oversight of national legislation and funding opportunities  

• Influencing national policy  

 
Acting as Gloucestershire’s strategic voice for housing and linking with other 
partners and partnerships  

• Develop linkages with and between strategic planning functions to share good 
practice in planning policies  

• Responding to government consultations in order to influence and shape future 
housing policy 

• Create a single voice and effective link with key strategic partnerships, including the 
Health and Wellbeing Board, the Community Safety Partnership, the Local Enterprise 
Partnership  

• To be accountable for the delivery of the ‘Housing’ Priority in the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 

• Provide oversight of the Gloucestershire response and recovery   
 
To provide strategic leadership for and drive the collective ambitions, including the reduction 
of street homelessness in Gloucestershire and the response to the Covid-19 pandemic 
 
 
Deliver consistency in operational delivery amongst District/County Council partners, 
where this benefits the system as a whole, in particular.  

• Housing Options (Homeseeker) 

• Pathway Services (Community and Accommodation based support) 

• SWEP (Severe Weather Emergency Protocol) 

• Somewhere safe to stay hubs and Navigator Services 

• ACTion Glos (SIB) 

• Private Rented Sector, including improving standards and accessing private rented 
units to discharge homelessness obligations 

• Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence  

 
Enable, coordinate and facilitate joint decision making in commissioning services at a 
county-wide level, including:  

• Assertive Homelessness Outreach 

• Disabled Facilities Grants oversight and the Better Care Fund Joint Housing Action 
Plan 

• And any future jointly commissioned services  

Page 84



3 
 

 
 
 
4. Membership and Governance  
 
Senior representation: people who are empowered and have a mandate to act: 

• Strategic directors and/or appropriate representatives 

• Lead Commissioner representation from Health and Adult Social Care 

• GCC lead on people in vulnerable circumstances 

• Two representatives of the Gloucestershire Homes and Communities Partnership   

• Lead people for the core disciplines: 
o Homelessness (CHIG); 
o Rough sleeping (CHIG+) 
o Private sector housing, including DFGs (DFG Forum) 

 
Plus exceptional reporting on: affordable warm homes and homelessness. 
 
The Partnership will be accountable to the Chief Executive Group for Gloucestershire and 
from here to Leadership Gloucestershire. The BCF Housing Action Plan will also report to 
the Joint Commissioning Partnership Executive, the Joint Commissioning Partnership Board 
through to the Health and Wellbeing Board. It will be directly accountable to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board for the delivery against the Housing priority in the JHWB strategy. 

 
5. Values, behaviours and commitments - we will:  
 

• Adopt a ‘system wide’ mindset and seek to deliver benefits for the system as a 
whole, whilst recognising that there may be different priorities within our own 
constituent councils  

• Value the contribution of all partners through active listening and respect for others’ 
points of view 

• Respect the need for confidentiality related to sensitive information and when 
required 

• Ensure decisions and plans are agreed in realistic but ambitious time scales 

• Act as system leaders in our own organisations 

• Act as leaders in the overall context of the Strategic Housing Partnership 

• Share and cascade information discussed as appropriate within each of our own 
organisations. 

 

6. Operation  

 

• Meetings will be held monthly  

• The Partnership will be chaired by a Strategic Director on an annual basis  

• Office support will be provided by the District who is providing the Chair  

• Good governance principles apply, including:  
o Effective minutes  

o Timely distribution of agendas and reports  

o Reports from all ‘representatives’ on countywide forums to ensure effective 
dissemination  

o Adoption and updating of a Forward Plan  

• Style of Meeting 

o Flexible, reflecting the nature of the agenda item; 
o Open agendas with opportunities for sub-groups to contribute; 
o A forward plan and work progamme; 

Page 85



4 
 

• Behaviours - we will: 
o Drive; 
o Monitor; 
o Influence; 
o Integrate. 

  

Page 86



5 
 

Appendix – housing related partnerships and groups 
 
 
 

Private Sector 
Housing  

Homelessness 

Housing Enabling 

Specialist Groups 

• Private Sector Managers  

• DFG Forum  

• Warm and Well Partnership 
 

 

 

• County Homelessness Implementation Group (CHIG & 
CHIG+) 

• County Homelessness Operational Group  

• Homeseeker Plus Management Board  

• Homeseeker PlusOperational Group  

 

• Strategic Housing Partnership Group (officers) 
• Local Housing Needs Assessment (LHNA) Group 
• Rural Housing Partnership  
 

 

• Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence Commissioning Group 
• Mental Health & Wellbeing Partnership Board 
• Housing with Care Project Board 
• Gypsy and Traveller Project Group 

 

Gloucestershire Homes & 
Communities Partnership 

Partnership of local RPs and Housing Associations 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report title A shared vision/plan for all children and young people in 
Gloucestershire

Item for decision or 
information?

Information and Decision

Sponsor Chris Spencer, Director of Children’s Services
Dame Janet Trotter, Child Friendly Gloucestershire

Author Andy Dempsey, Director of Partnerships and Strategy
Dame Janet Trotter, Child Friendly Gloucestershire

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council Children’s Services
Key Issues:

1.0 At its meeting on 21 July, the Health and Wellbeing Board received an update on the 
Child Friendly Gloucestershire (CFG) initiative.  The report highlighted the impact of 
Covid on progress and sought confirmation of the continuing commitment of partners 
to the CFG initiative as part of the wider recovery plan for the county. 

2.0 The Health and Wellbeing Board re-affirmed its commitment to the project and the 
priorities set out in the draft vision/plan (set out below). It also directed that work 
should continue over the summer period in order to identify areas of work where 
intervention and support will have a lasting impact and continue to engage key 
partners and stakeholders in order to build support and gain their insights:

 All children and young people are safe from harm.

 All children and young people are supported to choose healthy lifestyles.

 All children and young people have access to safe affordable transport.

 All children and young people do well at all stages of learning and are equipped 
with the skills for life in the 21st Century.

 All children and young people are happy and able to have fun growing up.

 All children and young people enjoy the economic and social benefits of growth.

 All children and young people are able to contribute to making Gloucestershire a 
sustainable county.

3.0 Since the last meeting, conversations have been progressing between partners 
around the governance, delivery and support arrangements that will be essential in 
moving the project from outline agreement through to the mobilisation and delivery 
phases.  This acknowledges the enduring impact of Covid on health, social care and 
education as they seek to reopen settings in a Covid secure manner and provide 
some normality for children and young people.  Taking a pragmatic approach, and 
balancing this with the need to avoid losing momentum,  it is proposed to make best 
use of the next 3 months to put the infrastructure and arrangements in place to 
enable rapid progress to be made as Covid related pressures ease.  The purpose of 
this report is to update HWB on those discussions and seek support for next steps.

4.0 As previously reported, although there is no longer a statutory duty for localities to 

Page 89

Agenda Item 15



have a Children and Young People’s Plan, there is a continuing duty under Section 
10, Children Act 2004, for the Director of Children’s Services (DCS) and Lead 
Member for Children’s Services (LMCS) to co-ordinate the work of local partner 
agencies to secure the wellbeing of children and young people in their locality.  This 
is distinct from the collective duties imposed by Section 11 to safeguard children and 
young people, for which revised arrangements for Gloucestershire were introduced in 
2019.

5.0 The previous plan for all children and young people in the county,  ‘Gloucestershire 
– works well for families – Gloucestershire’s Early Help and Young People’s 
Plan 2015-18’ ended in 2018.  The partnership group charged with oversight of its 
delivery has not met since that time.  One of the strongest themes emerging through 
the consultation events was a concern about the narrow scope of the previous plan, 
which was heavily focused towards the pre-occupations of statutory agencies, 
particularly social care and early help.  It was also felt that the partnership group 
overseeing its delivery lacked adequate faith, voluntary and commercial sector 
representation, perhaps reflecting the focus of the plan itself.

6.0 Since its commencement in 2018, the CFG initiative has drawn upon a much wider 
range of voluntary, faith and commercial sectors alongside senior statutory agency 
representatives.  It is, therefore, proposed to build on this good work by seeking 
further statutory agency representation to build a truly cross sector group, who will 
provide the focal point for delivery of this strategy on behalf of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. It is essential that the representation of statutory agencies at this 
group is sufficiently senior given the scale and ambition of the CFG initiative and 
acknowledging the key functions of the group, include:

 To provide oversight and scrutiny of the impact of the wide range of existing 
plans and strategies contributing to the health and wellbeing of children and 
young people, and ensuring that these cohere in support of the Child Friendly 
county initiative.  

 To develop specific actions and initiatives to deliver the priorities set out in the 
vision/plan.

 To develop the infrastructure and arrangements to have an ongoing and 
authentic dialogue with children and young people in the county to test the 
impact of our work.

 To develop a quality assurance and performance reporting framework to ensure 
that the Health and Wellbeing Board is provided with evidence of impact as the 
basis for future service development and delivery activity.  

 To act as a focal point for the development of capacity across sectors to improve 
outcomes for children and young people in the county.

7.0 Trust, confidence and transparency emerged as key issues during the consultation 
process.  Voluntary sector colleagues also highlighted that dialogue should not be 
unduly curtailed when an agency from that sector becomes a provider of 
commissioned or contracted services.  Dame Janet Trotter has led the work to 

Page 90



establish a broad cross sector coalition in support of the CFG Initiative.  The next 
stage is to formalise this by broadening its membership to encompass senior 
representatives from the statutory sector becoming in turn the Child Friendly 
Coalition/Strategic Group which, in effect, will be the children and young people’s 
partnership for Gloucestershire.  Building on the trust and confidence this has 
engendered to date, it is proposed that Dame Janet would chair the group with the 
Director of Children’s Services, Chris Spencer, as deputy.  An outline Terms of 
Reference and membership for the group is attached at Appendix 1.  

8.0        Working under the Child Friendly Coalition/Strategic Group, there will be a need for a 
number of sub groups, and/or task and finish groups, which will be a further topic for 
discussion with partners and stakeholders.  As part of the CFG initiative to date, there 
has been a community group, looking at activity and service provision for the pre 0-5 
yrs. age group.  This has been running alongside the Improving Early Outcomes for 
Children Group, which has been chaired by a public health consultant, Beth Bennett-
Britten, and draws together relevant statutory officers and voluntary sector 
representatives.  Having had initial discussions with both groups, it is proposed to 
merge these in order to avoid duplication and build on the progress to date.  A similar 
approach will be followed whenever practicable to ensure that governance is 
proportionate and builds on existing arrangements whenever possible, keeping the 
focus on activity and impact for children and young people.

9.0 At the last meeting, the HWB asked that consideration be given to those areas of 
activity that would benefit from focus over the short term.  Conversations with 
partners and stakeholders have identified 3 areas, two of which are age specific and 
the other cross cutting.  These are:

 Pre-birth to 5 years activity
 Transition to  employment and Further Education
 Children and Young People’s mental health

These priorities have emerged due to a variety of factors.  All partners recognised the 
whole lifetime impact of the best start in life and the need for improvement in 
outcomes.  The impact of Covid was also a factor and similarly upon the transition of 
young people to employment and further education.  Mental health and well being 
has been consistently highlighted by young people and partners through the 
consultation and resonates with all age groups. The HWB are asked to support these 
areas as the basis for the first year of action planning, alongside the development of 
our governance and delivery arrangements.

10.0 In order to have an impact, the Child Friendly Coalition/Strategic Group will need 
some degree of ‘back office’ support, comprising of project management, 
administrative and data analytics capacity.  The Director of Partnerships and Strategy 
will continue to act as lead officer to support the Coalition/Strategic Group.  Work is 
ongoing to put in place the necessary capacity, through the use of existing resources 
whenever possible. The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) has 
indicated a willingness to provide some resource.

11.0 Ongoing engagement with children and young people will be an integral element 
within the project.  Children’s Services have recently recruited a number of young 

Page 91



people to work as ‘youth representatives’ and are developing the Future Me project 
as a digital platform for a whole population approach towards communication with 
children and young people across the county.  The Director of Children’s Services 
has agreed that this resource will be available to support the Child Friendly project, 
with discussions underway on how this will be achieved.

12.0 The ambition of a truly child friendly county for Gloucestershire will only be realised 
with strong cross sector support informed by an openness to challenge and 
commitment to change where it is shown to be necessary by evidence.  The 
challenges presented by Covid will require a degree of pragmatism acknowledging 
the significant and enduring demands being placed on all agencies working with 
children and young people.  Putting in place the necessary governance 
arrangements is an essential step in enabling swift and sustainable progress, as and 
when circumstances allow. 

13.0 As a minimum, a revitalised Child Friendly Coalition/Strategic Group will begin to 
build an exhaustive picture of current activity, acknowledging that a good proportion 
is not currently subject to collective oversight, with all that implies for ‘whole system’ 
coherence and outcomes for children and young people. The significant and enduring 
impact of Covid speaks to the need for the meaningful engagement of children and 
young people in the economic, cultural and physical development of the county.  The 
Child Friendly Initiative provides the opportunity to take a more expansive view than 
previously, with economic, environmental and employment concerns featuring 
prominently alongside the well established focus on health, social care and 
education.  If we are to maximise opportunity and impact, future initiatives for young 
people must progress within the context of a shared and highly aspirational vision for 
all of our children and young people. 

Recommendations to the Board:

1.0 The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the report and agree: 

 To establish the Child Friendly Coalition/Strategic Group in accordance with the 
Terms of Reference set out at Appendix 1 and,

 Agree the 3 priority areas set out in paragraph 9.0 above as the basis for the 
year 1 action plan.

Financial/Resource Implications:

There are no direct financial implications from this report.

Andy Dempsey
Director of Partnerships and Strategy
9 September 2020

Page 92



Appendix 1

September 2020

Gloucestershire’s Child Friendly Coalition/Strategic 
Group

Terms of Reference

Name of Partnership Gloucestershire Child Friendly Coalition/Strategic Group

Type of partnership Non-statutory – cross-sector

Vision Gloucestershire Child Friendly Coalition/Strategic Group 
vision:

Realising the ambition set out in Vision 2050 and working to 
create a ‘child friendly county’.   

In a ‘child friendly county’, all partners view children and 
young people as an asset to be valued and nurtured for the 
future, with a shared commitment towards ensuring:

 All children and young people are safe from harm.

This will involve concerted action to address the 
concerns about personal safety expressed by young 
people through the child friendly county and other 
recent consultation exercises. This encompasses 
safety, both actual and perceived, in the physical realm, 
including places to gather and socialise, and within the 
digital space.  Some children also raised concerns 
about safety in the home.  

 All children and young people are supported to 
choose healthy lifestyles.

This will involve purposeful work to ensure we have an 
accessible health offer that addresses the physical, 
mental and emotional well being needs of children and 
young people across the county.

Page 93



 All children and young people have access to 
safe affordable transport.

This will involve working to develop the capability for 
children and young people to make safe journeys 
and travel around the county on an accessible, 
sustainable and affordable basis. 

 All children and young people do well at all 
stages of learning and are equipped with the 
skills for life in the 21st Century.

This will involve purposeful cross sector work to 
ensure we have a local education offer that is 
inclusive and restorative in its approach by actively 
addressing the barriers preventing all young people 
from engaging in and achieving through learning.  
This encompasses the skills and knowledge 
necessary for young people to engage in the 
dynamic and changing labour market of the 21st 
Century.

 All children and young people are happy and 
able to have fun growing up

Working to ensure there are a good range of 
accessible and affordable recreational and cultural 
activities for children and young people.

 All children and young people enjoy the 
economic and social benefits of growth

Collective work to promote the interests of, and 
provide opportunities for, the most vulnerable 
children and young people in the county.

 All children and young people are able to 
contribute to making Gloucestershire a 
sustainable county

Working to ensure that children and young people in 
the county are able to make a meaningful 
contribution towards tackling the climate crisis.

Aims / objectives of the 
Partnership

To work towards Gloucestershire becoming  a ‘child friendly 
county’, within which all partners view children and young 
people as an asset to be valued and nurtured for the future, 
as part of the 2050 Vision.

Page 94



Is there specific legislation that 
the partnership is helping to 
deliver?

Section 10 of the Children Act (2004) imposes a duty on the 
Director of Children’s Services (DCS) and Lead Member for 
Children’s Services to co-ordinate the work of local partners 
to secure the health and wellbeing of children and young 
people.

Which organisation is the lead 
partner on the partnership?

Gloucestershire County Council has the leading role for 
children’s services and for coordinating local multi agency 
working to secure the wellbeing of children and young 
people. 

The local authority is required to identify a Lead Member for 
Children’s Services (LCMS) and a Director of Children’s 
Services (DCS).  Their respective roles and responsibilities 
are set out in statutory guidance (DfE: 2015).

Membership of the  CFC/SG 

 

The membership will be drawn from senior representatives 
from the faith, voluntary, commercial and statutory sectors, 
including :

OPCC/Police
GCC Children’s Services
GCC Public Heath
CCG/Health Representatives
Education and EY Providers
Faith Sectors Representatives
LEP/Commercial Sector Representatives
Voluntary Sector Representatives
Youth Representatives/Ambassadors
Youth Justice

Meeting arrangements The group will meet at least quarterly, at appropriate locations 
in partner venues.  Minutes and papers will be available on 
the GCC website. Standing agenda items will include;

 Chair’s report

 Sub Group/T&F Group updates

 Progress against the strategy and action plan

 Feedback and views of young people

Chairing arrangements The Chair of Gloucestershire’s Child Friendly 
Coalition/Strategic Group will be Dame Janet Trotter.  The 
Deputy Chair will be Chris Spencer, Director of Children’s 

Page 95



Services.

Page 96



Structures and Roles Members will contribute their agency/sector experience and 
expertise through the following actions, both in meetings and 
when working on behalf of the Partnership: Members will 
work collectively:

• To provide oversight and scrutiny of the impact of the 
wide range of existing plans and strategies contributing 
to the health and wellbeing of children and young people, 
and ensuring that these cohere in support of the Child 
Friendly county initiative.  

• To develop specific actions and initiatives to deliver the 
priorities set out in the vision/plan.

• To develop the infrastructure and arrangements to have 
an ongoing and authentic dialogue with children and 
young people in the county to test the impact of our work.

• To develop a quality assurance and performance 
reporting framework to ensure that the Health and 
Wellbeing Board is provided with evidence of impact as 
the basis for future service development and delivery 
activity.  

• To act as a focal point for the development of capacity 
across sectors to improve outcomes for children and 
young people in the county.

 Participate fully through attendance, active participation, 
and by promotion of CF priorities in all relevant settings. 
When unable to do so, to send a suitable deputy with 
appropriate decision taking powers

  Participate in ‘task and finish’ groups, as required.

 Ensure appropriate representation and to represent the 
Child Friendly Coalition/Strategic Group within their own 
agency.

  Commit agency resources appropriately.

 Ensure priorities are reflected in own agency or thematic 
plans and strategies

 Be prepared for meetings by reading papers, attending 
briefings

 Ensure information is fed back to the representative 
agency or sector in conjunction with the ‘Commissioning 
Team’; 

 Act as a contact point for and communicate the decisions 
of the board to members of their agency or sector 

 Be committed to and actively promote equality of 

Page 97



opportunity and engagement; 

 Display consistency and honesty in achieving 
consensus, recognising that this is possible without 
everyone being present;

 Respect the views of other members; 

 Respect confidential information; 

 Be prepared to learn from each other and from good 
practice elsewhere. 

 Identify and address local issues and needs with 
innovative solutions on the basis of evidence of what 
works and is affordable.

Amendments to partnership 
governance

Arrangements will be subject to collective review on an 
annual basis, with approval for any change via the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.

Business Planning and 
Performance

The success of the partnership will be measured by:

 Improvements in outcomes for children, young people and 
their families with a particular focus on the most 
vulnerable.

 A comprehensive needs analysis and shared appreciation 
of activity and its impact. 

 Greater efficiency and impact from the use of recourses.

 Greater participation of children and young people in the 
development and delivery of activity.

Decision-making processes Statutory functions and responsibilities remain with relevant 
agencies. 

Decisions will be made on a consensus basis by show of 
hands unless the Chair feels that a formal vote is required.  
The Chair will have the casting vote, if required. Arbitration in 
the event of serious agreement will be in accordance with the 
GCC protocol.

Risk Management Arrangements A risk register will be kept and maintained. 
An ‘exception’ report to be considered on a regular basis so 
that risks are debated and provision agreed for them to be 
well managed.

Page 98



Income

Information Sharing
Do information sharing protocols exist? Yes 

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/104963/Information-
Sharing

Data Quality
Do Data Quality Protocols exist?

Yes 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/dataprotection

Equality and Diversity These exist within partner agencies.

CFC/SG adopts the GCC policy on equal opportunities and 
equal employment. GCC policy on Equal Opportunities and 
Employment at: http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/equalities

Report recommendations prepared for the CFC/SG will 
describe the impact in terms of equality and diversity. 

Code of conduct Standard GCC code of conduct applies. 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/105641/Code-of-Corporate-
Governance

Sustainability The CFC/SG is committed to supporting the  Gloucestershire 
sustainable community strategy

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=485
08&p=0

Conflict Resolution See above – decision making 
A standard conflict resolution procedure is available at :

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/feedback

Timescales; for review Annually, unless policy or legislation prompts review.

Page 99

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/104963/Information-Sharing
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/104963/Information-Sharing
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/dataprotection
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/equalities
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/105641/Code-of-Corporate-Governance
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/105641/Code-of-Corporate-Governance
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=48508&p=0
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=48508&p=0
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/feedback


Exit Strategy This initiative is sponsored by the HWB who will determine 
how the initiative will progress and terminate, consulting with 
key partners as necessary. 

The continuing duties placed on the DCS and LMCS will be a 
further consideration. 

Page 100



Appendix 2

Governance Framework

Leadership 
Gloucestershire

Health & Wellbeing Board

Steering Group
 Director of Partnerships 

& Strategy
 Project Support Officer
 Data Analytics
 Administrative Support

Child Friendly Coalition/Strategic 
Group.

Sub-groups and task and 
finish groups to address 

key themes and activities.

Priority projects – as above
 Pre-birth to 5 years activity
 Transition to employment and 

Further Education
 Children and Young People’s 

mental health

Oversight and assurance 
of existing partnerships 
and plans for children.

Engagement and communications with young 
people
 Work with youth representatives
 Future Me digital platform
 Specific/thematic comms activity
 Feedback from children and young people around 

impact and change.

Vision for the 
County

Health & wellbeing of whole 
population

Health and 
wellbeing of all 
children and YP 
pre-birth – 18-25*

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
-

P
age 101



Page 102


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	7 Priority: Physical activity
	8 Priority: ACEs and resilience
	9 Priority: Healthy lifestyles
	Healthy Weight Update for HWB Sept 2020

	10 Priority: Mental Wellbeing
	11 Priority: Social isolation
	20190605 Deep Dive Social Isolation DRAFT 2 (For EAC)
	Strategic SofI - Social Isolation and Loneliness v3

	12 Priority: Early years / Best start
	13 Priority: Housing
	Strategic Housing Partnership - ToR (July20)

	15 Child Friendly Gloucestershire Update

